
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380136/380184 
Email: memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Wednesday, 15 September 2021 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Council 
 
Thursday, 23 September 2021 at 7.00 pm, 
Ballroom, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Kath Pratt (Mayor) in the Chair,  
Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, 
Peter Britcliffe, Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Diane Fielding, 
Melissa Fisher, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, Carole Haythornthwaite, 
Eamonn Higgins, Michael Hindley, Terry Hurn, Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Sajid Mahmood, 
Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, Jenny Molineux, Caroline Montague, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, 
Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, Paddy Short, Steven Smithson and 
Kate Walsh 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Announcements   
 
a) Mayor 

 
b) Leader of the Council 

 
c) Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes  (Pages 5 - 16) 
 
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 1st July 2021 
(attached). 
 

5.   Question Time   
 
To deal with any questions submitted under Council Procedure Rule A2.2(vi). 
 

6.   Appointments to Committees, Sub Committees, Panels and Working Groups   
 
Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee currently comprises 8 Members (5:2:1).  
A request has been received from the Conservative Group to amend the Group’s 
appointees by the replacement of Councillor Sajid Mahmood with the appointment of 
Councillor Michael Miller. 
 
Local Plan Member Working Group 
 
The Local Plan Member Working Group currently comprises 7 Members (5:2:0).  A 
request has been received from the Labour Group to increase the membership to 8 for 
the remainder of 2021/22 and to appoint Councillor Dave Parkins to the Group, in view of 
his experience as Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee. 
 
Recommendation – Council is recommended to approve the requests submitted for 
changes to the appointments to the Committees and Working Groups as set out above. 
 

7.   Amendments to the Constitution - Part 4C Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules  
(Pages 17 - 32) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Appointment of Co-optees  (Pages 33 - 38) 
 
Report attached. 
 

9.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 39 - 48) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 14th July 2021 (attached). 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will move the Minutes, the Deputy Leader of the 
Council will second the Minutes. 

 Non-executive Members will be invited to make comment or ask questions on the 
Minutes (5 Minutes). 

 Cabinet Members will be invited to make comments and respond to any points 
raised (5 Minutes). 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 The Leader of the Council will be given up to 15 Minutes to respond and to 
answer any questions raised. 

 

10.   Minutes of Committees  (Pages 49 - 82) 
 
To receive the Minutes of committees, as set out below: 
 
Rules of Debate 
 

 The Leader of the Council will introduce the Minutes as a whole. 

 Any Member may raise any issue from the Minutes; the Chair of the relevant 
Committee may respond (5 Minutes). 

 The Leader of the Council will close the debate (5 Minutes). 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2020/22) Date 

Planning Committee 15th June 2021 

Local Plan Working Group 23rd June 2021 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

8th July 2021 

Audit Committee 19th July 2021 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 20th July 2021 

Planning Committee 22nd July 2021 

Planning (Trees) Sub Committee 22nd July 2021 

Licensing Sub Committee 25th August 2021 

Local Plan Working Group 6th September 2021 
 

11.   Motion(s) submitted on Notice  (Pages 83 - 84) 
 
Report attached. 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Executive 
Scaitcliffe House, 
Ormerod Street, 
ACCRINGTON BB5 OPF 
 
Wednesday, 15 September 2021 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Thursday, 1st July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Kath Pratt (Mayor), Councillors Judith Addison, Dominik Allen, 

Josh Allen, Mohammad Ayub, Noordad Aziz, Peter Britcliffe, 
Andrew Clegg, Loraine Cox, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, 
Diane Fielding, June Harrison, Marlene Haworth, Susan Hayes, 
Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins, Michael Hindley, Terry Hurn, 
Abdul Khan, Chris Knight, Patrick McGinley, Michael Miller, 
Jenny Molineux, Caroline Montague, Tim O'Kane, Dave Parkins, 
Bernadette Parkinson, Miles Parkinson OBE, Joyce Plummer, 
Paddy Short, Steven Smithson and Kate Walsh 
 

Apologies: Councillors Melissa Fisher and Sajid Mahmood 

  

 
44 Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Melissa Fisher and Sajid 
Mahmood. 
 

45 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Kate Walsh declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 11(1) - Motion on 
Market Hall Rents, on the grounds that the organisation that she worked for was based in 
the Market Hall. 
 
There were no declarations of dispensations submitted. 
 

46 Announcements 
 
1. Public Interest Matter 
 
The Mayor reminded Members that they would have received a letter from the Chief 
Executive giving an update on the position following the public interest matter raised at the 
last Council meeting.  However, the matter remained the subject of internal procedures 
which had not yet concluded. 
 
So as not to prejudice that process, the Mayor indicated that she was minded not to allow 
any discussion on this issue under Agenda Items 4 and 9, which dealt with the minutes of 
recent Council and Cabinet meetings.  She thanked councillors in advance for their 
understanding and cooperation in this regard. 
 
2. Funeral of Ron Hill MBE 
 
The Mayor reported that, with a mixture of both pride and sadness, she had recently 
attended the funeral of local Olympic legend, Ron Hill.  Ron had received a fitting send off 
from mourners and well-wishers from the athletics community. 
 
3. Armed Forces Day and Anniversary of the Battle of the Somme 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Mayor indicated that she had been fortunate recently to attend two socially-distanced 
ceremonies, along with Royal British Legion members and local politicians   An Armed 
Forces Day event had been held outside the Town Hall on 21st June 2021, to recognise the 
on-going commitment of current service men and women.  Earlier today, the Mayor had 
attended an event to commemorate the sacrifices made at the Battle of the Somme, which 
had a particular significance locally because of the involvement of the Accrington Pals. 
 
There were no announcements made by the Leader or Chief Executive of the Council. 
 

47 Confirmation of Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the Annual Council meeting held on 20th May 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, acknowledged the 
Mayor’s decision not to allow any discussion on the public interest matter, since the 
substantive information had already been/was being considered by the relevant bodies.  He 
wished to speak generally about standards in public life and queried whether the Council 
might have been misled during previous announcements.  He indicated that Councillor 
Fisher had had stated clearly that she knew nothing of the matter referred to in the 
announcement made by the Leader of the Council at the last meeting.  This potentially 
contradicted a statement made by another councillor who said that he had been 
approached to vote for Councillor Fisher during the Labour leadership election.  The Code 
of Conduct required councillors to act with honesty and integrity at all times.  Councillor 
Britcliffe believed that it would be proper to convene a meeting of the Standards Committee 
to consider whether Councillor Fisher had acted with honesty and integrity.  He suggested 
that if standards of behaviour were found wanting, the party whip should be withdrawn. 
 
Councillor Tim O’Kane indicated that he wished to disassociate himself from the 
announcements made recently about the elections.  Any discussion today would be unfair 
as Councillor Fisher was not present to respond.  A complaint could be made about 
possible misuse of Council resources in the way that the alleged incident had been brought 
to light.  The Police had given a clear indication that there had been no criminality involved 
in the incident.  Councillor O’Kane expressed concern at the way in which the matter had 
been raised by the Leader of the Council, since this would not normally have allowed a right 
of reply by the person implicated in the allegation.  However, Officers had intervened to 
ensure that a right of reply was available.  Labour councillors had not been notified that any 
such allegations were due to be raised at the last meeting and the matter had caused 
significant distress to Councillor Fisher.  
 
The Leader of the Council responded that during his long service as a councillor he had 
always striven to support honesty and integrity, by doing the honourable thing.  When 
presented with the information about the election issue he had sought to air this in an open 
and transparent way. 
 
The Mayor reiterated that this was not the appropriate time to carry on a debate on the 
above subject and called for the vote on the minutes to be taken. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes of the Annual Council meeting held 

on the 20th May 2021 be approved as a correct 
record.  

 
48 Question Time 

 
The Mayor reported that no questions had been submitted under this Agenda Item. 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
49 Change of Appointments to Audit Committee 

 
Members considered a recent request from the Conservative Group to change one of their 
two nominees appointed to the Audit Committee in 2021/22, so as to replace Councillor 
Josh Allen with Councillor Dominik Allen, with immediate effect. 
 
Resolved - To approve the replacement of Councillor Josh Allen 

by the appointment of Councillor Dominik Allen to 
the Audit Committee in 2021/22, with immediate 
effect 

 
50 Initial Proposal for the New Parliamentary Constituency Boundary Review 2023 for 

Hyndburn 
 
Members considered a report of the Leader of the Council, providing an update on the 
Parliamentary Boundary Review 2023, which set out the initial proposals from the Boundary 
Commission for England (the Commission) concerning the Hyndburn constituency and 
which sought the Council’s support for the Commission’s initial recommendations. 
 
The Leader gave a brief verbal introduction to the report, referring to the Council’s response 
to the previous Review and highlighting the importance of retaining the name Hyndburn and 
keeping the parliamentary seat largely co-terminus with the Borough boundary.  The 
Commission had a difficult job across the country, but brought an impartial view.  The 
changes proposed by the Commission would preserve the socio-economic character of 
East Lancashire. 
 
The report indicated that the Commission was an independent and impartial 
non-departmental public body, which was responsible for reviewing Parliamentary 
constituency boundaries in England. 
 
On the 8th June 2021 the Commission had published a report on their initial proposals to 
ensure that the number of electors in each constituency was more equal (electorate 
equality), which included a boundary change to the Hyndburn constituency and again 
proposed the name Hyndburn CC (County Constituency) which the Commission had 
proposed in the final review back in 2018.   
 
The Commission’s latest proposals for the Hyndburn constituency included the loss of the 
Haslingden area to the West Pennine Moors constituency and the gain of three additional 
wards (Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; Whalley & Painter Wood) 
from the Ribble Valley constituency, whilst keeping Hyndburn coterminous with the district 
council’s boundary.  
 
Following the passing of the Parliamentary Constituencies Act 2020 in December 2020, and 
the publication of the relevant Parliamentary electorate data in January 2021, the 
Commission had begun a new review of all Parliamentary constituencies in England.  They 
referred to this as the ‘2023 Review’, as they were required to report with their final 
recommendations by 1 July 2023.  
 
The 2023 Review of Parliamentary constituencies had been formally launched in January 
2021.  The Commission was required to ensure that the number of electors in each 
constituency was more equal; in doing so, the number of constituencies in England would 
increase from 533 to 543 (ten more than there were currently).  The Commission was 
undertaking an independent review of all constituency boundaries in England and would 
present its final recommendations to Parliament by July 2023.  Each constituency that the 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Commission recommended would have to contain no fewer than 69,724 Parliamentary 
electors, and no more than 77,062 (except two ‘protected’ constituencies for the Isle of 
Wight).  By law, these electorate figures related to the electorates as they were on 2 March 
2020. 
 
Applying the statutory formula to the electorate figures meant the total 650 constituencies 
was distributed during the review to the four parts of the UK with England receiving 
543 seats, Scotland with 57, Wales with 32 and Northern Ireland with 18 seats.  This 
Commission had applied the same distribution formula to the English allocation, which 
resulted in the following redistribution of constituencies among the nine English regions for 
the 2023 Review with the North West losing two seats from 75 to 73. 
 

 East Midlands = 47 (increase of one) 
 Eastern = 61 (increase of three) 
 London = 75 (increase of two) 
 North East = 27 (decrease of two) 
 North West = 73 (decrease of two) 
 South East = 91 (increase of seven) 
 South West = 58 (increase of three) 
 West Midlands = 57 (decrease of two) 
 Yorkshire and the Humber = 54 (no change) 

 
The Commission’s proposals left ten of the existing 75 (going down to 73) North West 
constituencies unchanged.  A further three constituencies were unchanged, except to 
realign with new local government ward boundaries.  Across Cumbria and Lancashire it 
was proposed to reduce the number of existing constituency areas from 22 to 20, whilst 
Greater Manchester, Cheshire & Merseyside had kept the same number.  This was down to 
the number of constituencies allocated to each sub-region and was determined by the 
combined electorate of the local authorities they contained.  
 
In 2018, the Council had been united in keeping Hyndburn coterminous with 100% of the 
district area within the parliamentary seat of Hyndburn whilst keeping its name.  The 
Council was pleased that the Commission had followed the previous submission and kept 
Hyndburn coterminous and would like to thank the Commission for retaining the Hyndburn 
area. 
 
The previous 2018 review had recommended that Padiham wards were included in the 
Hyndburn constituency proposals.  The latest 2023 proposals had instead included the 
three wards of Billington & Langho; East Whalley, Read & Simonstone; Whalley & Painter 
Wood from the Ribble Valley constituency area.  
 
It could be argued that both 2018 and 2023 proposals had natural linkages and community 
ties from schools, shops and employment.  The Padiham wards had similar social 
economic profiles and good infrastructure links.  Whilst, prior to 1983 Great Harwood was in 
the Clitheroe constituency, before it had been changed to the Ribble Valley at which time 
Great Harwood had moved into Hyndburn. 
 
Whilst there might be differing opinions regarding preferences of which additional wards 
make up electorate numbers within the parliamentary seat, the Council followed and 
supported the Commission’s impartiality and understood that the seat required a certain 
number of electorates to represent voter equality and tolerance levels and be within the 
Commission’s recommendations. 
 
In the 2018 review, Ribble Valley Borough Council had made a representation and their 
preferred Parliamentary Constituency would be to include the whole of the Ribble Valley, 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

together with parts of West Hyndburn (Baxenden, Church, Immanuel, Netherton, Overton, 
Rishton, St Andrew’s and St Oswald’s) that would bring the new constituency within the 
right tolerance level at 77,634 and they suggested it should be known as Ribble Valley and 
Hyndburn West.  
 
However, the latest proposals suggested that Ribble Valley district would only lose those 
three wards to the Hyndburn seat.  The Burnley constituency would lose Briercliffe, and 
gain Bacup and the Whitworth area.  Pendle was 100% coterminous and would gain 
Briercliffe, while Rossendale district had been split between the seat of Burnley and the 
new seat of West Pennine Moors. 
 
Concerns would arise if the Council considered proposing alternative recommendations, 
such as preferences over certain wards.  The detrimental impact on Hyndburn could be that 
the seat would be split into another parliamentary area.  The risk could be a possibility that 
Hyndburn would no longer be coterminous if the Council suggested alternative proposals, 
with perhaps the Commission redrawing boundaries across the North West and proposing 
alternative proposals at other submission requests.  
 
The Council’s main objective was to support the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in one 
parliamentary constituency area.  Any further proposals to change the name and not keep 
Hyndburn in one parliamentary seat would not receive the Council’s support. 
 
On 8 June 2021 the Commission had published their initial proposals for how the 543 
constituencies for England could be drawn up within the legal parameters mentioned.  This 
commenced a statutory consultation period of eight weeks (closing 2 August 2021), when 
anyone could give their views on those proposals.  They would be particularly interested to 
hear from people about the extent to which the proposals reflected the local ties in the area, 
and if people disagreed with their proposals, how they thought they should be amended.  
There would then be two further rounds of public consultation. 
 
Early in 2022, the Commission would publish responses to the initial proposals and would 
conduct a six-week ‘secondary consultation’, including between two and five public 
hearings in each region.  Late in 2022, the Commission would publish its revised proposals 
and conduct a four-week written consultation and following the conclusion of all three 
consultation periods, the Commission would look at all the evidence received before 
forming its final recommendations.  The Commission would then have to submit its final 
report and recommendations to the Speaker of the House of Commons by 1 July 2023. 
 
Resolved - That Council: 
 

(1) Notes the contents of the report; 
(2) Supports the proposal for keeping Hyndburn in 

one parliamentary constituency area and 
Hyndburn CC (County Constituency) for the 
name of the constituency.  

(3) Understands there may be differing views 
regarding preferences of which additional 
wards make up electorate numbers within the 
parliamentary seat, but that any further 
proposals to change the name and not keep 
Hyndburn coterminous in one parliamentary 
seat would not receive the Council’s full 
support. 

 
51 COVID-19 National Non Domestic Rates Reliefs for 2021/22 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
Members considered a report of Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, 
on the National Non Domestic Rates Nursery Discount Scheme for 2021/22 and the new 
Nursery Discount Scheme, both for the period of 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted the key features of the report and the four schemes 
indicated which underpinned the Government’s previous and on-going support for leisure, 
hospitality and childcare businesses.  The funding could amount to around £2M for local 
business funded by the Government. 
 
The report stated that, in its response to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, the 
Government had announced a raft of measures to support business rates payers – 
deliverable via billing authorities using their existing discretionary powers under Section 47 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988.  
 
Government had supported billing authorities and their preceptors by funding, in full, the 
discretionary reliefs awarded under these measures using grants delivered under Section 
31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 
The administration of all discount schemes within this report was subject to restrictions laid 
out in Section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which stipulated that any 
variation or termination of a discount scheme under Section 47 that would result in an 
increased financial liability for the ratepayer must be done at the end of a financial year and 
with 12 months’ notice.  By extending the 2020/21 schemes and implementing new 
schemes from 1st July 2021, the Council’s administration of business rates relief remained 
within the legal boundaries of its discretionary powers. 
 
Expanded Retail Discount Scheme 2021/22 Scheme  
 
Since 2019/20 the Government had provided a Business Rates Retail Discount for retail 
properties which for 2020/21 it expanded to include the leisure and hospitality sectors.  On 
3 March 2021 the Government confirmed that the Expanded Retail Discount would continue 
to apply in 2021/22 at 100% for three months, from 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021. 
 
For 2021/22, the Expanded Retail Discount would be applied after mandatory reliefs and 
other discretionary reliefs funded by grants made under section 31 of the Local Government 
Act 2003 had been applied.  Other locally applied discounts under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 would have to be applied after the Expanded Retail 
Discount. 
 
Expanded Retail Discount awards were made under section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, as amended. 
 
For the extended 2020/21 scheme, a total of 311 businesses were set to benefit from 1st 
April to 30th June 2021 with a total of £1.1M in business rates relief awarded.  For the new 
2021/22 scheme, fewer businesses were due to accept the relief due to cash caps and 
some national chains had requested relief to 30th June 2021 only.  The Council’s current 
estimate of relief to be paid under the 2021/22 scheme was £2.1M. 
 
The Retail Discount Scheme provided by the Council, in line with guidance and funding 
provided via MHCLG had been updated to reflect changes made to policy on a national 
scale.  The main differences in the schemes were outlined in a table set out in the report. 
 
Nursery Discount Scheme 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

In response to the Coronavirus, in the Budget on 18th March 2020, the Government had 
announced that all Early Years Foundation Stage childcare providers, registered with 
Ofsted and liable for business rates in 2020/21 would be given a 100% business rates 
discount for 2020/21. 
 
At the Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chancellor had announced that the Nursery Discount 
would continue to apply at 100% for eligible properties for the first three months of 2021 
from 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021.  
 
In total, 12 Early Years Foundation Stage childcare providers were set to benefit from the 
2020/21 scheme extension with a total of £17,000 being awarded from 1st April to 30th June 
2021.  The same 12 childcare providers were due to benefit from the new 2021/22 scheme 
with £33,000 in rate relief due to be awarded. 
 
For both scheme extensions, as this was a measure for 2021/22 only, the Government was 
not changing the legislation relating to the reliefs available to properties.  Instead the 
Government would reimburse local authorities that used their discretionary relief powers 
under section 47 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended), to grant relief.  
 
2021/22 Expanded Retail Relief and Nursery Discount Schemes 
 
In its guidance to local authorities issued in March 2021, the Government had outlined 
future funding for both an Expanded Retail Discount Scheme and Nursery Discount 
Scheme to run from 1st July 2021 to 31st March 2022.  For both schemes, business rates 
relief would be capped at 66% of the business rates liability (subject to cash caps) for 1st 
July 2021 to 31st March 2022, at which point the schemes would close.   
 
For both 2021/22 schemes, ratepayers would be given the right to refuse the discount. 
 
Cash Caps 
 
For the Expanded Retail Relief 2022/21, a ratepayer could only receive relief up to the 
following cash caps, ignoring any relief for the period before 1 July 2021: 
 

a. £2 million for ratepayers meeting the eligibility for the ‘closed cash cap test’; 
this test identified those businesses whose main in-person services were 
mandated to close based on law and guidance applicable on 5th Januarys 
2021, further compensating those businesses that might have faced a 
steeper financial impact as a result of national and local restrictions. Or, 

 
b. £105,000 for all other ratepayers not subject to mandatory closures as 

outlined above. 
 
For the Nursery Discount Scheme 2021/22, a cash cap of £105,000 per business was 
applicable, across all of their hereditaments. 
 
State Aid/Subsidy Control 
 
Whilst EU State Aid rules no longer applied within the UK following the end of the transition 
period on 31 December 2020, the UK still had several international obligations relating to 
subsidies.  These included those arising from the UK’s continued membership of the World 
Trade Organisation, or from the UK-EU Trade and Cooperation Agreement.  The 
Government considered that relief awarded under the schemes in this report was not a 
subsidy that fell foul of the new subsidy control principles.  This meant that local authorities 
could lawfully award relief to all eligible properties up to the caps specified in the guidance. 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

 
Councillor Addison noted that animal boarding establishments had claimed that they were 
not being supported, but business had largely dried up because families were not taking 
holidays abroad.  The situation had been brought to her attention by a cattery in her ward.  
Boarding establishments were also essential for older people who needed to make 
arrangements for their pets when they were admitted to hospital.  The sector’s professional 
association had raised the issue with Speaker of the House of Commons, Sir Lindsay Hoyle 
MP.  Some local authorities were providing grant support, but others were not.  Councillor 
Addison asked if this matter could be looked at in Hyndburn. 
 
Councillor Plummer and the Leader if the Council were both aware of the issue and a 
commitment had been given to look into this matter with a view to providing discretionary 
funding. 
 
Resolved (1) That the Expanded National Non Domestic Retail 

Discount Scheme 2020/21 and the Nursery Discount 
Scheme 2020/21 attached to the report, be extended 
for the first three months of 2021/22 financial year. 

 
(2) That the Expanded National Non Domestic Rates 

Retail Discount Scheme 2021/22 and the Nursery 
Discount Scheme 2021/22 attached to the report, be 
approved and applied to business rates bills as 
soon as is reasonably practicable in order to provide 
businesses with certainty around their business 
rates liabilities for 2021/22. 

 
(3) That the Deputy Chief Executive be given delegated 

powers to undertake the calculation, collection, 
administration and recovery of National Non 
Domestic Rates in accordance with the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, (as amended from 
time to time) and further government regulations 
that may be issued pursuant to the same. 

 
52 Minutes of Cabinet 

 
The minutes of the meetings of Cabinet held on 17th March and 9th June 2021 were 
submitted. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

53 Minutes of Committees 
 
The Minutes of the following meetings were submitted: 
 

Meeting (Municipal Year 2020/21) Date 

Standards Committee 15th October 2020 

Judicial (Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Licensing) Committee 13th January 2021 

Planning Committee 24th February 2021 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee 17th March 2021 

Cabinet (Street Naming) Committee 17th March 2021 

Planning Committee 24th March 2021 

 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

Resolved - That the Minutes be received and noted. 
 

54 Motion(s) submitted on Notice 
 
1) Motion Submitted on Notice – Market Hall Rents 
 
The following motion was proposed by Councillor Marlene Haworth and seconded by 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe under Council Procedure Rule A9:- 
 
“Trading is not back to normal in Accrington Town Centre, as restrictions on Covid-19 are 
being lifted across the country.  This is probably due to the relatively high incidence of 
COVID-19 in the Borough, which means residents continue to exercise caution.  
 
To alleviate problems for Market Hall traders and to help them get back on their feet the 
Conservative Group respectfully request that the Cabinet bring in a further 50% reduction in 
rents for the 6 month period July to December.  The cost of any lost income to be met from 
reserves.” 
 
Councillor Haworth outlined the background to the motion.  A letter had been set recently to 
the Leader of the council from Sara Britcliffe MP requesting a reduction in rents in the 
Market Hall.  The Conservative Group had been delighted to learn that the Labour 
administration had listened to the case put forward and responded positively to the motion.  
She hoped that it would not now be necessary to have a lengthy debate on the matter.  She 
thanked the Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council for their decision and swift action.  
She expressed a hope that the controlling administration would respond in such a positive 
way to other suggestions brought forward by the Opposition.  Close co-operation 
demonstrated that the Opposition Group were not, as one Member had suggested, ‘as thick 
as bricks’. 
 
Councillor Haworth confirmed that she did not wish to propose withdrawal of the motion at 
this time. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe also expressed delight at the response from the Labour Group to the 
written question submitted to them by the MP.  It was acknowledged that the Council was 
awaiting the longer term support to be provided under the Levelling Up Fund thanks to the 
efforts of the MP and the Leader of the Council.  It was especially important that Hyndburn 
did not slide into the abyss.  As an example, the planters outside the Town Hall were 
currently full of weeds which gave the impression that the Council was unable to take care 
of its key public assets.   He urged all concerned not to allow the Borough slip any further 
down. 
 
Councillor Britcliffe asked if he could withdraw the motion.  The Chief Executive indicated 
that it was not possible for the seconder to unilaterally withdraw a motion. 
 
The following amendment was then moved by Councillor Paul Cox and was seconded by 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE: 
 

 In paragraph 2 of the motion after the word ‘feet’ deletion of the words ‘the 
Conservative Group respectfully request that the Cabinet bring in a further 
50%...’and the insertion of the words ‘this Council respectfully requests that the 
Cabinet consider continuing the 52.5%...’ 

 
Councillors Miles Parkinson and Loraine Cox spoke in favour of the amendment and 
highlighted the difficult time faced by traders.  A wide range of stakeholders were coming 
together for the benefit of the whole Borough.  Accrington played an important part as a hub 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

for all of the townships.  The Council would come together with other stakeholders to submit 
a bid under Phase 2 of the Levelling Up Fund and everyone could play a role. 
 
The Borough had not been as wealthy during austerity, as grant funding which might have 
been available under a Labour Government had been whittled down.  However, the options 
were now opening up again.  The concerns about decline were being addressed and a 
prize of around £20M investment was potentially available.  The Council was doing its 
utmost during a global pandemic to support its Market Hall traders. 
 
The Labour administration had already provided significant levels of support to Market Hall 
traders in recent years.  Cabinet had approved a permanent reduction in rent of 13.4% in 
August 2018 and a further 30% concession for a 3 year period from January 2020, with a 
further 22.5% concession during the initial COVID lockdown up to 31 March 2021.  These 
measures, coupled with the new Market Stall Incentive Scheme and the proposed Levelling 
Up Fund investment should make positive difference.  The Council was happy to work 
closely with local traders and to support them. 
 
A brief adjournment was agreed due to a disturbance by an intoxicated member of the 
public.  The meeting then recommenced after a few minutes. 
 
Councillor Haworth responded on behalf of the Opposition Group that there was no desire 
to resist the amendment for the sake of scoring political points.  Supporting the Market Hall 
traders was the primary objective.  She would have preferred a larger concession, but the 
current proposal was acceptable. 
 
On being put to the vote the amendment was declared carried, following which the 
substantive motion below was then put to the vote. 
 
‘Trading is not back to normal in Accrington Town Centre, as restrictions on Covid-19 are 
being lifted across the country.  This is probably due to the relatively high incidence of 
COVID-19 in the Borough, which means residents continue to exercise caution. 
 
To alleviate problems for Market Hall traders and to help them get back on their feet this 
Council respectfully requests the Cabinet consider continuing the 52.5%reduction in rents 
for the 6 month period July to December.  The cost of any lost income to be met from 
reserves.’ 
 
The substantive motion was declared carried. 
 
Resolved - That Council requests the Cabinet to consider 

continuing the 52.5%reduction in rents for the 6 
month period July to December 2021, the cost of any 
lost income to be met from reserves. 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
at which the minutes were confirmed 

 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Municipal year 2019/20 
Last updated 16

th
 May 2019                                   Page 1 of 16 

 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23rd September 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Councillor Miles Parkinson, Leader of the Council 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Amendments to the Constitution – Part 4C Overview 

and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 

  

1. Purpose of Report 

 

1.1 To seek approval for a number of changes to the Council’s written constitution, Part 4C 

Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules. 

 

 

2. Recommendations  

 

2.1    That the revised Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules detailed in Appendix 1 of the 

report are agreed.  

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 

 

 

 C2. Right to sit on Overview and Scrutiny committees 

 

3.1    The Council’s Constitution, Part 4C Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules allows for 

the appointment of 4 non-voting co-optees to each Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

The procedure relating to the appointment of co-optees is set out below: 

 

 “Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7.



Municipal year 2019/20 
Last updated 16

th
 May 2019                                   Page 2 of 16 

 

matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The intention 

is that such co-optees will be non-political.  

(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following an 

application received directly from a member of the public.  

 

(ii) Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge and 

experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of 

the Committee. If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny members support the 

appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment will be presented to Council 

for approval.  

(iii) Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for approval, 

if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In reaching 

a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and experience of the nominee 

relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the Committee.” 

 

3.2 It is proposed that the following line is removed: “The intention is that such co-optees 

are non-political.” Without a clear definition of what it deemed non-political, this part of 

the Rules is difficult to interpret and apply consistently. In addition, most interest in co-

optee positions comes from Honorary Alderman, past Councillors or those considering 

standing for election, all of whom could be considered to be “political”.  

 

3.3 The proposed amendment will remove any confusion with regards to eligibility for a co-

optee position and ensure that the Council clearly acts in a way that is consistent with 

its Procedure Rules. 

3.4 It is expected the co-optees will follow the same guidance as Councillors on the 

Committee, remaining impartial and keeping the Scrutiny process separate from party 

politics. 

C10. Consideration of overview and scrutiny reports by the executive 

3.5 Overview and Scrutiny often make reports and recommendations to Cabinet. At 

present, there is no set process for how Cabinet should respond to reports and 

recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny. 

3.6 Cabinet will often respond directly at the meeting at which reports or recommendations 

are received, however, it is appreciated that at times Cabinet may need to give more 

detailed consideration to any recommendations received, and therefore it is proposed 

that allowances are made for this in the constitution, by the addition of the following 

clause to the Procedure Rules: 

Page 18



Municipal year 2019/20 
Last updated 16

th
 May 2019                                   Page 3 of 16 

 

“Cabinet will respond to the report or recommendations of the relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee by the date of the next following Cabinet meeting after considering 

the report or recommendations, unless the next following Cabinet meeting is scheduled 

to take place within 14 days of the Overview & Scrutiny meeting at which the report or 

recommendations were approved, in which case the same may at the option of the 

Leader of the Council be referred to the next Cabinet meeting after that one to allow 

sufficient time for the report or recommendations to be considered .” 

3.8 The proposed changes will be made to the Constitution upon agreement by the 

Council. 

 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

 

4.1     The changes proposed are at the discretion of the Council, but are recommended for 

the reasons given in section 3. 

 

5. Consultations 

 

5.1 Not applicable 

 

 

6. Implications 

 

Financial implications (including 

mainstreaming) 

 

None. 

Legal and human rights 

implications 

 

None 

Assessment of risk 

 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 

A Customer First Analysis should be 

completed in relation to policy 

decisions and should be attached as 

an appendix to the report.  

 

None identified. 

 

 

 

7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  

Page 19

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Municipal year 2019/20 
Last updated 16

th
 May 2019                                   Page 4 of 16 

 

 

 None 

 

8. Freedom of Information 

 

8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 

 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 

 Act 2000. 

 

 

  

Page 20



Municipal year 2019/20 
Last updated 16

th
 May 2019                                   Page 5 of 16 

 

C - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY AND PROCEDURE RULES 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

Rule 
 
C1. Number and arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 
C2. Right to sit on Overview and Scrutiny committees 
 
C3. Frequency of meetings 
 
C4. Quorum 
 
C5. Chair of overview and scrutiny meetings 
 
C6. Work programme 
 
C7. Agenda items 
 
C8. Policy review and development 
 
C9. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
C10. Consideration of Overview and Scrutiny reports by the executive. 
 
C11. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee members to documents.  
 
C12. Members and officers giving account. 
 
C13. Attendance by others. 
 
C14. Call-in 
 
C15. The party whip 
 
C16. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
C17.  Panels 
 
C18   Councillor Call For Action 
 
C19 Crime and Disorder Matters 
 
C20. Exempt and Confidential Information

Page 21



Page 6 of 16 
 

Appendix 1 
C. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

 
 
C1. Number and arrangements for overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 The Council will appoint up to two overview and scrutiny committees with such terms of 

reference as it shall determine. A joint meeting of the overview and scrutiny committees may 
be held no more than once per municipal year. Joint meetings of the Committees will be 
chaired alternately between the committee chairs or as the committee chairs may both agree. 

 
C2. Right to sit on overview and scrutiny committees 
 

 Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following 
an application received directly from a member of the public.  

 
(ii)    Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the 

relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the 
knowledge and experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or 
work programme of the Committee.  If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny 
members support the appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment 
will be presented to Council for approval.  

 
(iii)   Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for 

approval, if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. In reaching a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and 
experience of the nominee relevant to the terms of reference or work 
programme of the Committee. 

 
 

 
C3. Frequency of meetings 
 
 Ordinary meetings of the overview and scrutiny committees shall be held no more than once in 

every committee cycle.   
 
 In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time by: 

(i)   the chair of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee,  
(ii)  any 5 members of the relevant overview and scrutiny committee 
(iii) the Chief Executive if he/she considers it necessary or appropriate. 
 

C4. Quorum 
 
 The quorum of each overview and scrutiny committee shall be one quarter of the members of 

the committee or 3, whichever is the larger.   
 
 
C5. Chairs of overview and scrutiny committee meetings 

Page 22



Page 7 of 16 
 

 
 The Chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will be drawn from among the councillors 

sitting on the committee  
 
C6. Work programme 
 
 (a) The chair and vice chair of each overview and scrutiny committee will meet with the 

Cabinet within four weeks of each Annual Meeting to discuss the Cabinet’s policy priorities for 
the coming year.  The chairs and vice chairs will propose a draft work programme for their 
committee within two weeks of that meeting.  The draft work programmes will be submitted to 
the next following meeting of the Cabinet for comment and the draft work programme for each 
overview and scrutiny committee will then be submitted to the next following meeting of that 
committee (together with any comments or recommendations from the Cabinet) for approval. 

 
 (b)The overview and scrutiny committees will, subject to the above, be responsible for setting 

their own work programme and in doing so they shall take into account the wishes of 
committee members who are not members of the largest political group on the Council. 

 
C7. Agenda items 
 
 (a) Any member of an overview and scrutiny committee may to give notice to the chair (or vice 

chair in the chair’s absence) that they wish an item relevant to the functions of the committee 
to be included on the agenda for the next available meeting of the committee.  On receipt of 
such a request the chair or vice chair will ensure that it is included on the next available 
agenda.  A request may be refused if, in the opinion, of the chair or vice chair the item is not 
relevant to the functions of the committee. Only 6 such items may be placed on the agenda for 
any particular meeting. If notice is received of more than 6 such items, the chair of the 
overview and scrutiny committee, (or the vice chair in the chair’s absence), shall determine 
which 6 items to place on the agenda and the remaining items shall be deferred to the next 
meeting of the relevant committee. 

 
 (b) Any 5 members of the Council who are not members of the relevant overview and scrutiny 

committee may give written notice to the chair (or vice chair in the chair’s absence) that they 
wish an item relevant to the functions of the committee to be included on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee.  If the chair or vice chair receives such a notification, 
then he/she will include the item on the next available agenda.  The request may be refused if, 
in the opinion of the chair or vice chair, the item is not relevant to the functions of that 
committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda for any particular meeting. If 
notice is received of more than 3 such items, the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee, 
(or the vice chair in the chair’s absence), shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda 
and the remaining items shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee. 
 

 
 (c)The relevant overview and scrutiny committee shall also respond, as soon as their work 

programme permits, to requests from the Council and the executive to review particular areas 
of Council activity.  Where they do so, the overview and scrutiny committee shall report their 
findings and any recommendations back to the body which requested the review. That body 
shall consider the report of the overview and scrutiny committee within one month of receiving 
it.  

 
(Note: for Councillor Calls For Action, see Rule C18) 
(Note: for crime and disorder matters, see Rule C19) 

 

Page 23



Page 8 of 16 
 

 
C8. Policy review and development 
 
(a) The role of the overview and scrutiny committees in relation to the development of the 

Council’s budget and policy framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules.  

 
(b) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not forming part of its 

policy and budget framework, the overview and scrutiny committees may make proposals to 
the executive in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of reference.  

 
(c) The overview and scrutiny committees may hold enquiries and investigate the available 

options for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process.  They may go on site visits, conduct public surveys, hold public 
meetings, commission research and do all other things that they reasonably consider 
necessary to inform their deliberations.  They may ask witnesses to attend to address them on 
any matter under consideration and may pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a 
reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.  

C9. Reports from overview and scrutiny committee 
 

(a) Once it has formed recommendations or prepared a formal report the overview and 
scrutiny committee may submit the report or recommendations to the proper officer for 
consideration by the Cabinet (if the proposals are consistent with the existing budget 
and policy framework), or to the Council as appropriate (e.g. if the recommendation 
would require a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy 
framework). Any dispute as to whether a report should be considered by the Council or 
the Cabinet will be determined by the Chief Executive 

(b) If an overview and scrutiny committee cannot agree on one single final report to the 
Council or Cabinet as appropriate, then up to one minority report may be prepared and 
submitted for consideration by the Council or Cabinet with the majority report.  

(c) The Council or Cabinet as appropriate shall consider the report of the overview and 
scrutiny committee within two months of it being submitted to the proper officer.  

 
C10. Consideration of overview and scrutiny reports by the executive  
 

(a) The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled ‘Issues arising from 
overview and scrutiny’.  Overview and scrutiny committee reports or recommendations 
referred to the Cabinet shall be included at this point in the agenda (unless they have 
been considered in the context of the Cabinet’s deliberations on a substantive item on 
the agenda) of the next meeting of the Cabinet unless this occurs within 5 working days 
of the relevant meeting of the overview and scrutiny committee, in which case the 
report will be referred to the next meeting after that, subject to (b) below.  

 
(b) Reports and recommendations to Council or to Cabinet will be considered by Cabinet 

or Council (as appropriate) within two months of receipt by the proper officer. If for any 
reason the Cabinet does not consider the overview and scrutiny report  within two 
months then the matter will be referred to Council for review, and the proper officer will 
arrange for the report to be included on the agenda for the next Council meeting for 
consideration. 

 
(c) Cabinet will respond to the report or recommendations of the relevant Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee by the date of the next following Cabinet meeting after considering 
the report or recommendations, unless the next following Cabinet meeting is scheduled 

Page 24



Page 9 of 16 
 

to take place within 14 days of the Overview & Scrutiny meeting at which the report or 
recommendations were approved, in which case the same may at the option of the 
Leader of the Council be referred to the next Cabinet meeting after that one to allow 
sufficient time for the report or recommendations to be considered 

  
(d) The overview and scrutiny committees will in any event have access to the Cabinet’s 

forward plan and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.  Even where an 
item is not the subject of detailed proposals from an overview and scrutiny committee 
following a consideration of possible policy/service developments, the committee will at 
least be able to respond in the course of the Cabinet’s consultation process in relation 
to any key decision.  

 
C11. Rights of overview and scrutiny committee members to documents 
 

(a) In addition to their rights as councillors, members of overview and scrutiny committees 
have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

 
(b) Nothing in this paragraph prevents more detailed liaison between the executive and 

overview and scrutiny committees as appropriate depending on the particular matter 
under consideration.  

 
C12. Members and officers giving account 
 

(a) Each overview and scrutiny committee may scrutinise and review decisions made or 
actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council functions within the 
overview and scrutiny committee’s terms of reference.  As well as reviewing 
documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any member of the 
executive, the Chief Executive and/or any chief officer or service head to attend before 
it to explain in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
  (i) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
 
  (ii) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 
 
  (iii) their performance 
 
  and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required.  
 

(b) Where any member or officer is required to attend an overview and scrutiny committee 
under this provision, the chair of that committee will inform the Chief Executive.  The 
Chief Executive shall inform the member or officer in writing giving at least 5 working 
days notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend.  The notice will state 
the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account and 
whether any papers are required to be produced for the committee.  Where the account 
to be given to the committee will require the production of a report, then the member or 
officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that 
documentation.  

 
(c) Where, in exceptional circumstances, the member or officer is unable to attend on the 

required date, then the overview and scrutiny committee shall in consultation with the 
member or officer arrange an alternative date for attendance. 

 

Page 25



Page 10 of 16 
 

C13. Attendance by others 
 
 Each overview and scrutiny committee may invite people other than those people referred to in 

paragraph 12 above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It 
may for example wish to hear from residents, stakeholders and members and officers in other 
parts of the public sector and shall invite such people to attend.  

 
C14. Call-in 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to each overview and scrutiny committee 
 

(a) When a decision is made by the executive (or an individual member of the executive, a 
committee of the executive, an area committee or under joint arrangements or a key 
decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the executive) the decision 
shall be published, including where possible by electronic means, and shall be 
available at the main offices of the Council normally within 2 days of being made.  
Chairs of the overview and scrutiny committees will be sent copies of the records of all 
such decisions within the same timescale, by the person responsible for publishing the 
decision.  If the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee is of the same political 
party as the executive, copies of all such decisions shall also to be sent to all members 
of the committee.  

 
(b) That notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the decision 

will come into force, and may then be implemented, on the expiry of 6 working days 
after the publication of the decision, unless an overview and scrutiny committee objects 
to it and calls it in. 

(c) During that period, the proper officer shall call-in a decision for scrutiny by the relevant 
committee upon receipt of the appropriate call-in form signed by the chair (or the vice 
chair in the chair’s absence) or any 2 members of the committee, and shall then notify 
the decision-taker of the call-in.  He/she shall call a meeting of the committee on such 
date as he/she may determine, where possible after consultation with the chair of the 
committee, and in any case within 9 working days of the end of the 6 working day call-in 
period.  

(d) If, having considered the decision, the overview and scrutiny committee is still 
concerned about it, then it may refer it back to the decision making person or body for 
reconsideration, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The decision maker 
shall then reconsider amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision.  If 
it is a Cabinet decision it will be reconsidered at the next scheduled meeting of the 
Cabinet.  The member who sponsored the call-in may attend the relevant Cabinet 
meeting to make representations on the item, as may the chair of the relevant overview 
and scrutiny committee if he/she supported the call-in.  If it is an officer decision or a 
decision by an individual cabinet member it will be reconsidered within 5 working days. 

 
(e) If following an objection to the decision, the overview and scrutiny committee does not 

meet in the period set out above, or does meet but does not refer the matter back to the 
decision making person or body, the decision shall take effect on the date of the 
overview and scrutiny meeting, or the expiry of the10 working day call-in period 
whichever is the earlier. 

 
(f) Where an executive decision has been taken by an area council then the right of call-in 

shall extend to any other area council which resolves to refer a decision which has 
been made but not implemented to a relevant overview and scrutiny committee for 
consideration in accordance with these provisions.  An area council may only request 

Page 26



Page 11 of 16 
 

the proper officer to call-in the decision if it is of the opinion that the decision will have 
an adverse effect on the area to which it relates.  All other provisions relating to call-in 
shall apply as if the call in has been exercised by members of a relevant overview and 
scrutiny committee.  

 
(g) Details of all decisions called in by overview and scrutiny committees and the decision 

makers response to them shall be reported to the next meeting of the Council for 
information.  

 
 CALL-IN AND URGENCY 
 

(i) The call-in procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken by 
the executive is urgent.  A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the 
call in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public interest.  The record 
of the decision, and notice by which it is made public shall state whether in the opinion 
of the decision making person or body, the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not 
subject to call-in and the reason for that opinion.  The mayor must agree both that the 
decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a 
matter of urgency.  In the absence of the mayor, the deputy mayor’s consent shall be 
required.  In the absence of both, the head of paid service or his/her nominee’s consent 
shall be required.  Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next 
available meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.  

 
(j) The operation of the provisions relating to call-in and urgency shall be monitored 

annually, and a report submitted to Council with proposals for review if necessary.  
 
C15. The party whip 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 (a) “Party whip” means any instruction given by or on behalf of a political group to any 

councillor who is a member of that group as to how that councillor shall speak or vote on any 
matter before the Council or any committee, or the application or threat to apply any sanction 
by the group in respect of that councillor should he/she speak or vote in any particular manner. 

 
 (b) When considering any matter in respect of which a member of an overview and scrutiny 

committee is subject to a party whip the member must declare the existence of the whip, and 
the nature of it before the commencement of the committee’s deliberations on the matter.  The 
declaration, and the detail of the whipping arrangements, shall be recorded in the minutes of 
the meeting.  

 
C16. Procedure at overview and scrutiny committee meetings 
 

This Procedure Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committees 
 
 (a) The overview and scrutiny committees shall consider the following business: 
 
  (i) apologies 
 
  (ii) declarations of interest (including whipping declarations); 
 
  (iii) minutes of the last meeting; 
 

Page 27



Page 12 of 16 
 

  (iv) consideration of any matter referred to the committee for a decision in relation 
   to call in of a decision; 
 
  (v) responses of the executive to reports of the overview and scrutiny committee; 
   and 
 
  (vi) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.  
 

(b) Where the overview and scrutiny committee conducts investigations (e.g. with a view to 
policy development), the committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at 
committee meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the following 
principles: 

 
(i) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all members of the committee be 

given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and 
speak; 

(ii) that those assisting the committee by giving evidence be treated with respect 
and courtesy; and  

(iii) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the 
investigation or analysis. 

 
(c) Following any investigation or review, the committees shall prepare a  report, for 

submission to the executive and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its report 
and findings public.  

 
C17 Panels 
 

Each Overview & Scrutiny committee may appoint up to one panel at any time and may 
determine the Panel’s terms of reference, size, membership and duration   
 

C18    Councillor Call For Action 

(a) Subject to this Rule C18 any councillor may instigate a Councillor Call For Action in respect 
of issues of concern affecting all or part of the wards they represent. 

(b) In order to qualify as a Councillor Call for Action the issue of concern must: 
(i) be within the functions of the overview and scrutiny committee concerned 
(i) affect all or part of the ward the member represents or people who live and work 

there; 
(iii)  not be a local crime and disorder matter within s19 Police and Justice Act 2006; 
(iv) not relate to a decision in respect of an application for an agreement, approval 

or permission under planning legislation 
(v) not relate to an enforcement decision under planning legislation 
(vi) not relate to a decision in respect of an application for a premises licence, a club 

premises certificate or a temporary event notice or a request for a review of 
such a decision 

(vii) not relate to any enforcement decision made under the Licensing Act 2003 
(viii) not relate to a matter in respect of which there is a statutory right of appeal or 

review (but the item is not excluded just because there is a right to pursue it with 
the Local Government Ombudsman) 

 
(c ) The councillor shall complete the Councillor Call for Action form (available from Member 

Services) which must state the reason for the referral to the committee and demonstrate 
that other appropriate methods of resolving the issue have been tried and exhausted  

Page 28



Page 13 of 16 
 

 
(d) The Councillor Call for Action form must be delivered to the Chief Executive.  

(e)  The Councillor Call for Action will be considered by the chair of the relevant committee (or 
vice chair in the chair’s absence) within 6 working days of its receipt (not counting the day 
of receipt) and the Call for Action may be refused if in the opinion of the chair (or vice chair 
in the chair’s absence): 

 the issue of concern does not meet  the criteria referred to in (b) above; or 

 it is vexatious or discriminatory; or 

 the chair (or vice chair in the chair’s absence) is not satisfied that reasonable steps 
have been taken to resolve the issue of concern in other ways 

 (f) If the chair (or vice chair) receives a notification which satisfies the criteria referred to in (b) 
and (e) above then s/he will include the Councillor Call for Action on the agenda for the 
next available meeting of the committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda 
of any particular meeting. If valid notice is received of more than 3 Councillor Call for 
Action, the chair of the overview and scrutiny committee (or the vice chair in the chair’s 
absence) shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda and the remaining items 
shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee.  

 
(g)  The overview and scrutiny committee may permit the councillor who made the Call for 

Action to make representations in respect of the issue of concern, including the reason for 
the Call for Action and the steps already taken to resolve the same.  

 
(h) If the overview and scrutiny committee decides to take no action in respect of a Councillor 

Call for Action it must inform the councillor who instigated it accordingly and give reasons 
for its decision. If the overview and scrutiny committee decides to take action in respect of 
the item it must inform the councillor who instigated the Call for Action accordingly and give 
him / her a copy of any report or recommendations it makes to Council or to Cabinet 

 

  
C19 Crime and Disorder Matters 

(a) This Rule applies to the overview and scrutiny committee with responsibility for crime 
and disorder matters 

(b) In this Rule the following expressions have the meaning shown: 

local crime and disorder matter (i) crime and disorder (including in particular 
forms of crime and disorder that involve anti-
social behaviour or other behaviour adversely 
affecting the local environment); or 

(ii) misuse of drugs, alcohol or other substances 

which affects all or part of ward the councillor making 
the referral represents, or people who live or work 
there 

responsible authorities  Chief Officer of Lancashire Police 

Lancashire County Council 

Lancashire Police Authority 
 
Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service 

Page 29



Page 14 of 16 
 

 
East Lancashire NHS Teaching Primary Care Trust 

 

co-operating bodies  the local Probation Board 

providers of probation services in Hyndburn pursuant 
to section 3 Offender Management Act 2007 

Altham Parish Council 

governing bodies of schools maintained by the local 
education authority 

governing body of Accrington & Rossendale College 

East Lancashire Hospitals NHS Trust  
 
 

Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust 
 

Proprietors of Independent Schools – Heathland 
Private School, “Broad Oak”, Sandy Lane, 
Accrington 

 

relevant committee the overview and scrutiny committee with 
responsibility for crime and disorder matters 

written information Information relating to: 

(i) the discharge or decisions of, or other 
action taken by, the responsible 
authorities in connection with their crime 
and disorder functions 

(ii) local crime and disorder matters 

the information will be depersonalised unless the 
identification of an individual is necessary or 
appropriate to enable the relevant committee to 
properly exercise its powers 

the information will not include information that would 
be reasonably likely to prejudice legal proceedings or 
current or future operations by the responsible 
authorities or the co-operating bodies 

 

(c)  The relevant committee will meet at least once in each municipal year to review the 
exercise by the responsible authorities of their crime and disorder functions under 
section 6 Crime And Disorder Act 1998. Where the relevant committee makes a report 
or recommendations either to Cabinet or to Council in respect of such matters it shall 
provide a copy of the report or recommendation to each of the responsible authorities 
and each of the co-operating bodies. 

(d) The relevant committee may request written information from the responsible 
authorities and the co-operating bodies and may specify a date by which the written 
information should be provided 

Page 30



Page 15 of 16 
 

(e) The relevant committee may require the attendance before it of an officer or employee 
of a responsible authority or a co-operating body to answer questions but must give 
reasonable notice of the date and time of the meeting at which attendance is required 

Member referrals of local crime and disorder matters 

(f) Any councillor may refer a local crime and disorder matter to the relevant committee. 
The referral must be made in writing, giving full details of the local crime and disorder 
matter and the reason for the referral. The referral must be delivered to the Chief 
Executive. 

(g) Valid referrals will be placed on the agenda for the next available meeting of the 
relevant committee. Only 3 such items may be placed on the agenda for any particular 
meeting. If valid referrals are received in respect of more than 3 local crime and 
disorder matters the chair of the relevant committee (or the vice chair in the chair’s 
absence) shall determine which 3 items to place on the agenda and the remaining 
items shall be deferred to the next meeting of the relevant committee. 

(h) The relevant committee must consider whether to make a report or recommendations 
to either the Council or the Cabinet in respect of the local crime and disorder matter, 
having regard to any representations made by the councillor who made the referral. If 
the relevant committee decides to take no action it must notify the councillor who made 
the referral of its decision and reason for it. If the relevant committee decides to make a 
report or recommendations either to the Cabinet or to Council it must provide a copy of 
the report or recommendations to: 

(i) the councillor who made the referral 

(ii) such of the responsible bodies as it thinks it appropriate 

(iii) such of the co-operating bodies as it thinks it appropriate. 

(i) Where the relevant committee makes a report or recommendations to Council or 
Cabinet and provides a copy of the same to any responsible authority or co-operating 
body the relevant committee must inform each of them of their obligations under 
section 19(8B)(b) Police and Justice Act 2006, namely: 

(i) to consider the report or recommendations 

(ii) to respond to the relevant committee in writing to say what action (if any) it 
proposes to take, such response to be made within 28 days of receipt of the 
report or recommendations (or, if this is not reasonably possible, as soon as 
reasonably possible thereafter)  

(iii) to have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its functions 

 

 

C20 Exempt and Confidential Information 

(a) Where an overview and scrutiny committee intends to 

(i)  publish a report or recommendations; or 
(ii) submit a report or recommendations to another organisation  

      it must first do the following: 

 request the proper officer to exclude any confidential information (i.e. any information 
the Council is legally prevented from disclosing pursuant to s100A(3) Local 
Government Act 1972); and 

Page 31



Page 16 of 16 
 

 consider whether any exempt information should be excluded (i.e. any information 
covered by s100I Local Government Act 1972 and / or s246 National Health Service 
Act 2006) and, if it decides that it should, request the proper officer to remove any such 
information prior to disclosure. 

(b)  Where an overview and scrutiny committee intends to supply a copy of a report or 
recommendations to a member of the Council it must first consider whether any 
confidential or exempt information should be excluded and, if it decides that it should, 
request the proper officer to remove any such information prior to disclosure 

(c ) Where any exempt or confidential information is removed from a report or 
recommendations the proper officer shall provide sufficient non-exempt and non-
confidential information to the recipient to enable the report or recommendations to be 
properly understood. 

 
  

 

 

Page 32



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23 September 2021 

REPORT OF: Cllr Jenny Molineux, Chair of the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cllr 
Paddy Short, Chair of the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee   

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: Appointment of Co-optees 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 For Council to consider recommendations for co-opted members to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees. 
 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
Subject to Council having voted in favour of the recommendation in the previous report that 
the requirement for co-optees to be non-political is removed: 
 
2.1 That Council approves the reappointment of Bernard Dawson MBE as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.2 That Council approves the appointment of Paul Barton as co-optee to the Communities 

and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.3 That Council approves the appointment of Jean Battle MBE as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.4 That Council approves the appointment of Kimberley Whitehead as co-optee to the 

Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.5 That Council approves the reappointment of Bernard Dawson MBE as co-optee to the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8.



 

2.6 That Council approves the appointment of Doug Hayes as co-optee to the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
2.7 That Council approves the appointment of Stephen Button as co-optee to the 

Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2.8 That Council approves that the above appointments be made until the end of the 

2022/23 Municipal Year. 
 
2.9 That Council notes that, should the above appointments be approved, there remains 

one vacancy for a co-optee on the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
which may be filled in year with approval from Council. 

 
2.10 That Council thanks Honorary Alderman Ian Ormeord, who served as a co-optee for 

several years on the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Councils Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule C2 states: 
 

“Up to four members of the public may be appointed to each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee as non-voting co-optees, if they are deemed to have relevant experience of 
matters falling within the remit of that Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The intention 
is that such co-optees will be non-political”.  
 
(i) Co-optees may be appointed following nomination by a councillor or following an 
application received directly from a member of the public.  

 
(ii) Applications received directly from the public will be considered first at the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Committee will consider the knowledge and 
experience of the applicant relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of 
the Committee. If the majority of the Overview and Scrutiny members support the 
appointment of the applicant, the proposed appointment will be presented to Council 
for approval. 
 
(iii) Nominations received from councillors will be presented to the Council for approval, 
if supported by the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In reaching 
a decision, the Council will consider the knowledge and experience of the nominee 
relevant to the terms of reference or work programme of the Committee.” 
 
The requirement for co-optees to be non-political was considered by Council in a report 
earlier on the agenda for this meeting, with the recommendation that this requirement 
be removed for the reasons set out in that report. 
 

3.2 The list below shows those who were nominated as co-optees by the Communities and 
Wellbeing Committee alongside the reasons for nomination, at its meeting on 8th July 
2021. 

 

Page 34



 

- Bernard Dawson MBE – is an Honorary Freeman of the Borough, having served as 
a District and County Councillor for many years. Bernard has been previously 
appointed to Overview and Scrutiny Committees as both a Councillor and more 
recently as a co-optee. 
 

- Paul Barton is an Honorary Alderman, former Councillor, previous Mayor and a 
local businessman. Paul has all the attributes to bring a common sense private 
sector business argument to the role of Overview and Scrutiny Committees. Paul 
has been a Scrutiny co-optee since 2016. 

 
 

- Jean Battle MBE is an Honorary Alderman and former District and County 
Councillor. During her near 30 year role as a Councillor, Jean has been Leader of 
Hyndburn Borough Council and a Cabinet member at Lancashire County Council. 
Jean has strong links with many local charities and was awarded an MBE in 2020. 
Jean’s experience will add real value to the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  
 

- Kimberely Whitehead has been an active member of the community in Hyndburn 
for a number of years. She was very active within the Hyndburn Hub while it was 
established and has now gone on to be a trustee at Hyndburn CVS. Kimberley is 
Secretary of Hyndburn Green Spaces Forum as well being a committee member of 
ACE. She is also involved with many of the charities and community groups in 
Hyndburn including being Secretary of Hyndburn Baby Bank. She has a keen 
interest in Scrutiny and has attended several meetings as a member of the public. 

            
3.3 The following were nominated as co-optees by the Resources Committee at its 

meeting on 20th July: 
 

- Bernard Dawson MBE is an Honorary Freeman of the Borough, having served as a 
District and County Councillor for many years. Bernard has been previously 
appointed to Overview and Scrutiny Committees as both a Councillor and more 
recently as a co-optee. 
 

- Doug Hayes is an Honorary Alderman and former Councillor, who served as a 
Councillor for Oswaldtwistle for 24 years, was Mayor in 2000/01 and the Chair of 
the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee for several years. His experience 
could add value to the Committee. 
 

- Stephen Button is a former Councillor who served on the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee previously, notably playing an active role in the green review 
conducted in 2019. 

 
3.4 No further applications or nominations were received. 
 
3.5 If the recommendations are approved, there will be one vacant co-optee position 

remaining on the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 

Page 35



 

 
4.1 Council could choose to reject any of the recommendations, but no other nominations 

or applications have been received for the co-optee positions. 
 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None 

Assessment of risk 
 

None 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  

Not Applicable 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee on 8th July 2021 
 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver

=4 
  
 Agenda, reports and minutes of the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

20th July 2021  
 
 https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver

=4 
 
 
  
 
 
  

Page 36

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=129&MId=2628&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=2657&Ver=4


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 14th July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Peter Britcliffe, June Harrison and Marlene Haworth 

  

 
62 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

63 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, declared a personal interest in respect of Agenda Item 6 – 
Hyndburn Leisure Transformation, in the light of his role as a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
There were no reported dispensations. 
 

64 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 9th June 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

65 Urgent Decisions Taken 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decision taken under the urgency procedure: 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Extension to the enhanced building cleaning 
contract in response to Covid pandemic 

Councillor Paul 
Cox 

28th June 2021 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decisions taken. 
 

66 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

67 Hyndburn Leisure Transformation - Investing in the Health of Hyndburn 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, the Leader if the Council, provided a progress report on 
Hyndburn Leisure Transformation.  Following a previous report to Full Council on 19th 
November 2020 and to Cabinet on 10th February 2021, a public consultation had been 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

carried out and further work to progress and maximise opportunities to enhance leisure 
facilities across the Borough had taken place. 
 
The report provided an update on progress to ensure the provision of high quality sports 
and leisure facilities in Hyndburn, creating a platform upon which to reduce physical 
inactivity, and develop a sustainable funding model in relation to Hyndburn Leisure. 
 
The Leader provided a lengthy verbal update which highlighted the main issues included 
within the report. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Leader of the Opposition, commented that a recent briefing 
held for the Conservative Group had been useful and had provided an opportunity for the 
Group’s questions and concerns to be raised.  The Leader responded that the Chair and 
Chief Executive of Hyndburn Leisure had endeavoured to be transparent about the 
proposals and that decisions taken had been and would be made following analysis and 
logic.  It was acknowledged that there were strong feelings in Great Harwood about the 
future of Mercer Hall and, accordingly, the partners wished to provide something better 
overall as a result of any changes.  Mercer Hall was a high quality building, but was no 
longer suitable or financially viable for use as a swimming pool. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe, Joint Deputy Leader of the Opposition, indicated that Mercer Hall 
had always been costly to maintain.  The Conservative Group still had some reservations 
about its change of use, and believed that it would be difficult for Great Harwood residents 
to access alternative swimming facilities via public transport.  There were also concerns 
about the option of opening a new pool in Clayton-le-Moors, which would not be suitable for 
swimming clubs.  It was noted that Hyndburn Borough Council was one of only a few 
authorities that did not subsidise its leisure services provider.  Overall, the Conservative 
Group was supportive of the improvements proposed, but with some caveats.  The Leader 
reiterated that the Council supported the retention of the Mercer Hall building, but needed to 
consider its future use as a swimming pool.  The options would be analysed further.  Sports 
England had identified that swimming clubs and communities had differing requirements for 
pool use, as clubs need cooler water.  The whole Leisure Transformation project would be 
underpinned by professional analysis.  For example, table tennis had at one time been 
popular at Hyndburn Sports Centre, but gymnastics was now in the ascendancy and could 
be a more effective use of that space.  The Sports Hub at Highams Playing Fields was a 
good example of what could be achieved with appropriate investment.  It was noted that, if 
the Wilsons site was selected for further development, it was located on a good bus route. 
 
Councillor June Harrison spoke in favour of the proposals and direction of travel.  She 
noted that the charity, Play 4 uz 2, was being consulted about using a space in Mercer Hall 
for an inclusive play facility for children with special educational needs and disabilities, but 
was uncertain whether this would come to fruition.  The Leader suggested that this could be 
a facility which had a Lancashire-wide catchment. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe indicated that one issue raised during the Conservative Group 
briefing was that of the provision of cricket pitches in the Borough.  Cricket was known to be 
very popular and, particularly so, in the Asian heritage community.  The Leader indicated 
that this had been raised previously by Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP.  However, there 
was a balance to be found between publicly provided sports facilities and those that could 
best be supported by established sports clubs, such as cricket clubs.  Those private clubs 
also needed new members to sustain their existence.  The Council would need to provide a 
business case for investment in its own sports and leisure facilities.  Councillor Munsif Dad 
BEM JP welcomed the Opposition’s comments.  Partner organisations were working 
together to try to improve the lives of local people.  Hyndburn Leisure and the Council were 

Page 40



 
 
 

 

 
3 

progressing the project in a transparent way and were continuing to consult stakeholders 
about future leisure provision. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
Poor health and well-being in Hyndburn was a major issue, highlighted during the current 
Covid pandemic and the Council and its partners needed to maintain and improve the offer 
to the local community if they were to challenge the current position. 
 
The current indoor and outdoor sport and leisure facilities in Hyndburn were ageing and 
required significant levels of investment to maintain the current service offer.  The work of 
the Council and Leisure Trust over the past two and a half years had aimed to understand 
where best that investment should be targeted and the potential to enhance the existing 
leisure offer to maximise positive outcomes for the local community. 
 
The overall objective of this project was to develop a shared local strategic vision that was 
deliverable and distinctive whilst at the same time, creating the optimal mix of facility and 
service interventions with a strong sense of place and good connections with the wider 
area. 
 
This report detailed the progress being made on that journey.  Once all the steps had been 
completed, the Council’s partners would be in a position to make appropriate 
recommendations and in the meantime, would regularly update Cabinet on what had been 
found and would communicate with the public. 
 
The report included detailed information on the following matters:- 
 

 Outcomes of the Feasibility Study (Stages 1-3 of the Strategic Outcomes Planning 

Model – SOPM); 

o Stage 1 - National Strategy summary; 

o Stage 1 – Summary; 

o Stage 2 – Establishing where we are now and where we want to be in the 

future.  The Outcomes were as follows: 

1. Support people in our communities to live their lives well 

2. Improving quality of services and facilities 

3. High quality and valued environment with good connections between urban 

and rural areas 

4. Maintaining effective financial management; 

o Stage 3 – Facility Mix Options (Active Environment; Hyndburn Leisure Centre; 

Wilsons Playing Fields; Wilson Athletics Track); 

 Public Consultation Analysis (including both the Leisure Transformation Survey and 

the Mercer Hall Repurposing Survey outcomes); 

 Progress against Phase 1 – 3 of the Leisure Transformation (2021-24); 

 Additional development opportunities; and 

 Next steps. 

 
The next stage of feasibility work would include a sequential assessment of potential 
replacement sites in Great Harwood and Rishton, alongside the site that was currently 
being proposed at Wilsons Playing Fields.  This work would take the project to the end of 
the Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) Stage 1 and would provide detailed business 
modelling and costed architectural designs. 

Page 41



 
 
 

 

 
4 

  
The Council and Leisure Trust would continue to progress external funding applications 
with a range of organisations including Sport England, the Football Foundation, Rugby 
Football League and England Athletics. 
 
Detailed work would take place to complete Stage 4 of the SOPM to assess the overall 
affordability of the Leisure Transformation, identifying resource requirements to implement 
the scheme. 
 
In connection with Mercer Hall, the partners expected to hear the outcome of a bid to the 
Architecture Heritage Fund (AHF) Project Viability Grant programme by September 2021.  
The public consultation process highlighted that there was a very strong interest from the 
community to engage in identifying and agreeing the future use of Mercer Hall and the 
partners planned to establish a local steering group to progress this work. 
 

There were no alternative options considered or reasons proposed for rejection 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet notes the on-going joint work between 

the Council and Hyndburn Leisure to develop 
detailed proposals around a potential investment 
programme in leisure facilities owned by the Council 
and operated by Hyndburn Leisure, to assist in 
significantly improving the health and well-being of 
the local population 

 
(2) That Cabinet asks that further reports are brought 

back to Cabinet as studies for this project are 
concluded and final investment recommendations 
are identified. 

 
68 Garage Plot Rental Charge 1st April 2022 

 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information (England) Regulations 2012, a notice had been published on 5th July 2021 
under the General Exception Procedure confirming that Councillor Paddy Short, Chair of 
the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been informed that the following key 
decision was to be made by Cabinet on 14th July 2021 without publishing details of the 
decision at least 28 days before the meeting. 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Wellbeing, provided a report 
seeking approval for increased garage plot rents from 1st April 2022.  Councillor Cox 
outlined the main purpose of the report. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe noted that there would be administrative costs to implementing the 
increased rents and on-going collection costs.  He enquired if it would be more economical 
to sell the garages to the tenants.  The Leader responded that The Council’s Estates Team 
were currently involved in some large scale projects and did not have spare capacity to deal 
with smaller sales.  Historically, the Council had made every effort to review its estate and 
to dispose of any land which was surplus to requirements.  However, now was not the most 
appropriate time to consider the matter of garages. 
 
Approval of the report was deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 

Page 42



 
 
 

 

 
5 

The Council completed a garage rent review every 3 years, with the aim of ensuring that 
the garage plot rents kept pace with inflation.  It was reasonable for the Council to increase 
the garage plot rents having taken into consideration the annual rate of inflation and rents 
charged by neighbouring local authorities. 
 
The Council had last increased the annual garage plot rent on the 1st April 2019.   
 
Allowing for the annual rate of inflation from 2019, and rent comparisons charged by 
neighbouring local authorities, it was recommended that the annual rent be increased to 
£102.00 from 1st April 2022.   
 
The term “garage plot”, for the purpose of this report, meant an area of land owned by the 
Council roughly equal in size to that which permitted the erection of a 3m x 6m single 
garage, together with a narrow strip of land around the plot thereby permitting vehicle 
access and garage maintenance. 
 
Garage plots were rented to members of the public (the tenants) who might then, at their 
own expense, erect a garage which could be used for parking a domestic motor vehicle.  
Some plots were used for parking cars or caravan storage without a garage building.  It was 
a condition of the agreement that the garage plots were not used for commercial purposes 
and that the garage itself and the plot were maintained by the tenant.  
 
The Council had 184 garage plots, all of which were tenanted at the time of writing. 
 
The Council’s proposed annual rent of £102.00 was comparable with neighbouring local 
authorities.   
 
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council £96.00 
Pendle Borough Council  £94.55  
Burnley Borough Council  £89.15 
Rossendale Borough Council £165.00 
 
In reaching the recommended rent, consideration had been given to the annual rate of 
inflation since 2018 and that predicted from 2021 onwards, which ranged by year from 1.5-
2.48%, albeit somewhat reduced in 2020 as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.  The 
recommended garage plot rent increase was 2.0% (year on year from 2019), which was 
comparable to the national rate of annual inflation. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
No change.  Continue to charge rents at the existing amount.  This option had been 
rejected on the grounds that a larger rent increase would be required at a future date.  It 
was reasonable for the Council to review the rents charged every 3 years. 
 
Set a lower rent increase.  This option had been rejected on the grounds that the annual 
rate of national inflation since 2018 and predicted 2021 onwards ranged from 1.5% to 
2.48%.  The Council had set the rent increase comparable to that of the national rate of 
inflation, and to a rate comparable with other neighbouring local authorities. 
 
Set a higher rent increase.  This option had been rejected on the grounds that the increase 
would be greater than the national rate of inflation.   
 
Resolved - That Cabinet authorises an increase in garage plot 

rents from £96.00 to £102.00 per annum (excluding 
VAT) with effect from 1st April 2022.  

Page 43



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
69 Temporary Rent Concession for the Indoor Market Hall Traders 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, 
asking Members to consider offering a further rent concession for the indoor Market Hall 
traders, due to the unpresented pressures involved around the Coronavirus pandemic 
 
The Deputy Leader highlighted the existing 30% rent concession to market traders agreed 
in November 2019 and the additional 22.5% concession applied from 1st April 2020 to 31st 
March 2021.  The proposal was to extend the latter concession until the end of December 
2021. 
 
As an aside the Deputy Leader also drew attention to the rejuvenated flower planters 
outside the Market Hall, which now displayed herbaceous perennials and which would help 
to improve the overall shopping experience for visitors. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth expressed delight at the proposals, which reflected well on the 
political parties’ ability to work together for the benefit of the Borough.  The concessions 
would help traders through these difficult times.  She had spoken to a number of traders 
who had expressed their gratitude.  Councillor Peter Britcliffe also welcomed the proposals, 
although noted that this was not a complete solution to trading issues.  Millions of pounds 
had been spent on the Market Hall and town centre over the years, but the fundamental 
issue remained the need to attract in new traders into the town.  To a large extent the 
Market Hall was living in the past.  Half day closing on Wednesdays was a throwback to a 
bygone era.  Nationally, the public spent twice as much money on a Wednesday than on a 
Monday.  Furthermore, on Sundays, Accrington town centre was busy, but the Market Hall 
was closed.  Traders needed to recognise new shopping patterns and respond to them, so 
as to attract the ‘Leisure Pound’. 
 
The Leader considered that these were valid points.  Both political administrations had 
spent money on the Market Hall and Town Hall over the years, but they had not flourished 
as expected.  The proposed Town Centre Investment Plan would look at these issues.  The 
public sector could deliver some services, but the private sector was better certain 
activities.  The Borough remained a long way from being able to attract visitors from out of 
town in large numbers yet, but this was an aspiration.  These suggestions were welcomed 
and would be added to the matters being considered by the stakeholders and consultants 
working on the Plan.  The Deputy Leader noted that shopping habits had changed and that 
new approaches and alternatives were required.  For example, a pop-up bakery stall had 
been piloted on Saturday and had sold out of goods within two hours.  The Market Hall 
needed to be a focal point and, as such, its opening hours were important.  He would be 
happy to discuss these issues further in a face to face meeting with the Leader of the 
Opposition.  Councillor Haworth indicated that she had not been aware of the pop-up stalls 
and suggested that such attractions needed to be better advertised to have a greater 
impact. 
 
The Leader reiterated that all suggestions would be fed into the Levelling Up Fund bid.  It 
was acknowledged that the Council could only do so much to stimulate trade, as had been 
demonstrated by the Christmas Lights switch on event.  This event had originally been 
staged by the Council to promote late-night shopping, but had not been universally 
supported by traders, with a number of flagship shops remaining closed. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for decision  
 

Page 44



 
 
 

 

 
7 

Trading was not back to normal in Accrington Town Centre, even as restrictions on Covid-
19 were being considered/lifted.  This was probably due to the relatively high incidence 
rates in the Borough, meaning many residents continued to exercise caution when 
shopping in the town centre.  
 
In February 2018, Cabinet had approved a 50% concession on rent and service charges for 
2 months.  In August 2018, Cabinet approved a permanent reduction in rents of 13.4%, and 
in November 2019 had approved a 30% rent concession for a period of three years 
commencing 1 January 2020.  
 
In August 2020, Cabinet had approved a 22.5% rent concession for the period 1st April 
2020 to 31st March 2021 to support the traders during the initial Covid lockdown.  This was 
on top of the agreed 30% three year rent concession already approved, in effect giving a 
52.5% concession on rents for indoor market hall traders.  
 
To alleviate cash flow problems for the indoor Market Hall traders and help them get back 
on their feet, it was proposed to reinstate the 22.5% concession in rents for the six month 
period 1st July to 31st December 2021. This concession did not apply to the traders within 
the balcony units.  
 
The concession offered to the Market Hall traders would be on the condition that they 
continued to make all monthly rent or other payments via Direct Debit, (DD) and adhere to 
the Council’s Market Regulations, which would include remaining trading during the agreed 
Market Hall opening hours.  Where a current trader was in rent arrears, no concession 
would be applied to the arrears and if applicable, any credits would be used to reduce the 
outstanding debt.  Where a trader was up to date, any credits would be returned in full.  Any 
tenant not agreeing to these conditions would remain on the existing sq. ft. rental charge. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council could leave the rents at the current level.  However, a motion proposed at the 
Council meeting held on 1st July 2021 had support for the rent concession set out within this 
report. 
 
Resolved (1) That Cabinet approves the 22.5% rent concession 

for the indoor Market Hall traders set out in 
paragraph 3.4 and subject to the conditions in 
paragraph 3.5 of this report, with effect from 1st July 
2021 and until 31st December 2021.  

 
(2) That Cabinet notes the rent concession will reduce 

income levels for the financial year 2020/21 and it is 

unlikely any efficiency or other savings will offset 

this. 

 
70 Additional Christmas Lighting Displays 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for 
Regeneration and Wellbeing, updating Members on the suggested enhanced offering of 
Christmas lights on street lighting columns within the Borough. 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox summarised the report which proposed the purchase of lights for 
those townships which did not currently have displays, in the sum of £39k for 2021 and an 

Page 45



 
 
 

 

 
8 

increase to the Christmas Decorations revenue budget with effect from 2022.  The new 
LED lights would reduce carbon emissions and have lower operating costs. 
 
The Leader reminded Members that new lights had been purchased for Accrington and the 
larger townships last year.  The current proposals would extend this provision to the 
remaining townships.  The installation of any new power supplies needed and the erection 
and dismantling of all Christmas lights would be undertaken by Lancashire County Council 
under the existing contract. 
 
Councillor Peter Britcliffe indicated that he had been disappointed with the lights in 
Oswaldtwistle last Christmas.  He also expressed a view that the new lights should 
appropriately reflect the Christian heritage of the celebration.  This point was echoed by 
Councillor June Harrison.  The Leader responded that the old illuminated Father Christmas 
figures had reached the end of their useful life and had been replaced.  The new lights 
would be multi-coloured, globe rope lights to wrap around the lamp posts.  If other designs 
were desired additional budget provision would need to be identified.  However, the existing 
lighting budget was already significant. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
At the request of the Leader in 2020, 110 new Christmas Lights had been purchased to 
replace the existing street lighting column features across the Borough for the 2020 switch 
on within the townships of Great Harwood, Oswaldtwistle, Baxenden and Accrington.  The 
Leader had now requested additional Christmas Lights in order to enhance the new 
displays across the whole Borough.  
 
It was therefore proposed to purchase an additional 50 new lights, as this would provide the 
greatest impact to the remaining townships of Altham, Clayton, Rishton and Huncoat, all of 
which currently did not have any street lighting column displays.  This would ensure these 
remaining townships felt more included. 
 
The new 50 LED lights, manufactured by the same local lighting company as those installed 
in 2020, i.e. multi coloured, globe rope lights, would provide a consistent and co-ordinated 
approach across the Borough, making erection and maintenance far simpler.  
 
As well as being lightweight, waterproof and durable, the lights used LED bulbs which was 
in line with the Council’s carbon reduction commitment and also ensured the electrical 
running costs were kept as low as possible.  
 
The lightweight nature of using rope lights, rather than an animated display, meant that 
structural testing of the street columns should not be necessary, but this was ultimately at 
the discretion of Lancashire County Council (LCC).  
 
Whilst there was the initial Capital cost of purchasing the rope lights and LCC’s costs for 
providing a new electrical supply at the top of all the 50 street lighting columns, there would 
be a need to increase the Christmas Decorations contract budget for the erection and 
dismantling of the lights from 2022 onwards.  The additional cost to the contract would be 
£148.84 per unit with a 5% increase for each year after, as this was part of the contract that 
LCC were awarded in 2020 to erect and remove the Council’s Christmas decorations / 
trees.  
 

Page 46



 
 
 

 

 
9 

LCC had informed the Council that they had a ‘window’ of availability in July to undertake 
this work, but after which they were not able to guarantee the necessary works would be 
completed in time for the switch on. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
Not adding to the display in 2021.  This would leave numerous townships without any street 
lighting column Christmas lights.  
 
Adding supplementary lights in the townships which had new displays installed in 2020 
(Great Harwood, Oswaldtwistle, Baxenden, Accrington) was deemed not necessary, as 
those areas had already been enhanced by new LED lights. 
 

Resolved - That Cabinet approves the enhanced Christmas 
light offering for 50 street lighting columns for 
2021 at a cost of £39,000 and approves an 
increase in the Christmas Decorations revenue 
budget from 2022, as per paragraph 3.6 within the 
report. 

 
71 Hyndburn Arts Strategy 

 
The Cabinet considered a report of Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP, Portfolio Holder for 
Education, Leisure and Arts, seeking approval for the development of a Hyndburn Arts 
Strategy. 
 
Councillor Dad highlighted that an Arts Strategy could improve the mental health of 
residents and ensue their wellbeing, as well as supporting the local arts and cultural offer.  
Contact would be made with the Arts Council England which was the lead development 
agency for creative culture, to see what assistance they might offer.  The report sought 
funding in the sum of £5k to develop the Strategy, which had to potential to unlock funding 
from elsewhere and could support cultural events in Accrington Town Square and the 
Borough’s parks. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Council had not developed a formal Arts Strategy for over 15 years, which whilst not a 
legal requirement, the lack of such a long term strategic plan might be a disadvantage when 
trying to attract external grant funding, which for example could be used to support the 
Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid, which was due to be submitted in the Autumn. 
 
Hyndburn Arts Ltd had approached the Council offering to develop a long term Arts 
Strategy for the Borough, details of which were appended to the report by way of an 
introduction letter, quotation and proposal brief. 
 
Hyndburn Arts Ltd, had recognised the limited timescales of developing the strategy in time 
for the Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid and had indicated that a draft version would be 
available within four weeks of a signed agreement. 
 
The Chief Executive of the Leisure Trust was aware of the proposal by Hyndburn Arts Ltd 
and had made contact with their Creative Director to discuss how other local arts and 
culture partners/stakeholders might be able to support the proposed work and would also 

Page 47



 
 
 

 

 
10 

be making contact with the Arts Council to enquire if they could offer any support/financial 
assistance to develop the strategy. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The Council was not required to have an Arts Strategy, but not having one could restrict the 
Council when considering external funding opportunities, such as the Government’s 
Levelling Up Fund. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the proposal from Hyndburn 

Arts Limited to develop a 10 year Hyndburn Arts 
Strategy at a cost of £5,000 and that this is met from 
the Economic Development fund already set aside 
by the Council. 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 48



 

 
33 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 15th June, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Dave Parkins (Vice 

Chair), Judith Addison, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison, Kath Pratt, 
Susan Hayes, Mohammad Ayub, Diane Fielding, Caroline Montague and 
Miles Parkinson OBE 
 

Apologies: Councillors Melissa Fisher 

  

 
29 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

An apology for absence was submitted for Councillor Melissa Fisher and Councillor 
Miles Parkinson acted as a substitute. 
 
A declaration of personal interest was submitted from Councillor Miles Parkinson 
with regards to application 11/21/0260 due to attending external meetings on the 
infrastructure of public telephony.  
 
A declaration of personal interest was submitted from Councillor Susan Hayes with 
regards to application 11/20/0461 regarding working in the dog rescue environment 
for a number of years.  
 
 
 
 

30 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 28th April 2021 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 

Resolved – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

31 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following application.  
 
Resolved 1 – That the following application be approved, subject to the 
conditions recommended in the report. Delegated powers granted to the Chief 
Planning Officer to finalise wording prior to the decision notice being issued.  
 
Resolved 2 – That the associated planning application for the same site ref 
11/20/0459 be determined by officers using delegated powers.   
 
11/20/0461 – Clough Bottom Farm, Oak Road, Accrington, BB5 2DG 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 10.



 
 
 

 

 
34 

N.B. 1. Ms Kelly Paddick spoke at the Committee in support of the above  
planning application.  

  
 2.  An update sheet was handed out at the meeting.  
 
   3. The following comments were made by the Committee: 
 

 Cllr Parkins and Cllr Harrison spoke on how they were impressed with 
the site and the site in Salford which is already up and running.  

 

 Cllr Hurn raised his resident’s concerns to the Committee. 
 

 Cllr Addison overall impression of the site was good, just concerns 
over no regulatory body checks on the facility.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

32 11/21/0260 - On the footway opposite No 82 Marlborough Road, Accrington 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following application.  
 
Resolved – That the following application be refused, due to the reasons set 
out in the report. Delegated powers granted to the Chief Planning and 
Transportation Officer to issue the decision notice once the public 
consultation period has expired.  
 
11/21/0260 – On the footway opposite No 82 Marlborough Road, Accrington  
 
N.B  1. Ms Ann Bleasdale spoke at the Committee objecting to the above planning 

application. 
 

2. Ms Joanne Kay spoke at the Committee in support of the above planning 
application.  

 
3. Cllr Paul Cox spoke at the Committee as Ward Councillor on the above 
planning application. 
 
4. An update sheet was handed out at the meeting.  

 
 
 
 

33 11/19/0453 - Land at Broadfield Garage, Broadfield, Oswaldtwistle. 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following application.  

Page 50



 
 
 

 

 
35 

 
Resolved – That the following planning application be agreed, to make the 
order and that consultation takes place. Delegated powers granted to the 
Chief Planning and Transportation Officer in conjunction with the Director of 
Legal Services to confirm the Order subject to no objections raised.  
 
11/19/0453 – Land at Broadfield Garage, Broadfield, Oswaldtwistle.  
 
 

34 Planning Committee Update June 2021 Final 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
LOCAL PLAN MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 

 
Wednesday, 23rd June, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors Melissa Fisher, 

Judith Addison, Carole Haythornthwaite and Eamonn Higgins 
 

Apologies  

  

 
34 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 

There were no apologies for absence or substitutions. 
 
The Chair requested Councillor Dave Parkins to be added to this group. 
 
Resolved – Julian Joinson to take the request to the next Council meeting.  
 

35 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest.  
 

36 Introductions 
 

All attendees introduced themselves at the start of the meeting.  
 

37 Purpose of the Working Group 
 

To keep Members informed of the progress and work on the Local Plan, Members 
will then be more familiar when finalising the Plan and sign off is required at future 
Cabinet and Council meetings.  
 
To ensure Members are on board with proposed policies and happy with them 
including site allocations.  
 

38 Local Plan Timetable 
 

The draft Local Plan went through a consultation period during 2018-2019 and now 
officers are preparing the pre submission of the Plan including strategic policies and 
site allocations. 
 
No preferred site allocations have been made public yet. 
 
Officers are now working towards the next consultation period for site allocations, 
once all responses are collated they will be sent to the inspector for review.  
 
 

39 Local Plan Progress including Evidence Base update 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 53



 
 
 

 

 
2 

The Habitats survey is now completed and is available online. The Highways and 
Transport study is ongoing. The Housing and Economic Needs Assessment update 
is ongoing, due to COVID and Brexit there has been a refresh on housing numbers 
and this will have a short term impact for the next 15+ years. Further assessments 
to take place are Heritage, Landscape, Economic Viability and Strategic Flood 
Risk’s.  
 
The Open Space Audit and Infrastructure Delivery Plan are to be commissioned.  
 
The consultation will close by the end of this year, responses to be collated and 
finalised by May 2022 then passed to the Planning inspector for examination and 
the plan to be adopted by early 2023 at the latest.  
 
 
 
 

40 Huncoat Garden Village update 
 

This project is led by the Regeneration department, officer contacts are Mark Hoyle 
and Chris Gregory. 
The Huncoat Masterplan final stage 2 report and draft stage 3 reports are due very 
soon.  
The Huncoat Lane design brief is being worked on at present.  
Huncoat is part of the national model design code which is part of the government’s 
pilot testing programme. It is a significant piece of work especially around the 
design work to ensure there is no poor quality.  
The Masterplan is due to be reported at Cabinet in September 2021 for approval 
and then it will be incorporated into the Local Plan.  
 

41 Five Year Housing Land Supply update 
 

Officers gave an update on the position of how much housing land we require 
based on the current draft Local Plan.  
 

Draft housing requirement (dwellings per annum) 216 
Total housing requirement over Plan period 2016-36 4,320 
New dwellings completed since 2016 775 
Residual need 3,545 
 

These wont all be situated on new site allocations as some housing will be met with 
existing sites or windfall sites.  
 
Resolved - A further update to follow from Planning officers.  
 

42 Gypsy and Traveller Site provision 
 

Simon Prideaux updated on the current status of the site provision, this is a very 
complex piece of work and has a large number of requirements.  
The assessment identified the need for 49 pitches over a planned period, it’s a 
challenging piece of work with difficulties trying to identify new sites and find 
suitable and willing landowners. 

Page 54



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Hyndburn now have a higher traveller population therefore there is a higher need 
required. As children grow up they then require a new generation of housing needs.  
 
We propose to identify enough sites for years 1-5 and broad locations for years 6-
15.  
 
The group had a discussion on the site at Charter Street, Accrington and the 
application at Baxenden which was refused.  
 
 
 

43 Local Plan Policy areas 
 

The group had an open discussion on this item. 
 
The current core strategy of delivering housing and the percentages are:  
Great Harwood - 15% 
Rishton - 10% 
Accrington including Clayton/Huncoat – 75%  
 
The Huncoat housing plans are likely to go beyond 2036, the employment sites are 
under the masterplan also and we are now looking at land for employment including 
an extension to Altham Business Park. 
 
Employment land is required along the M65 corridor, although the majority of it is 
greenbelt land so some changes may need to be acquired.  
 
Councillor Judith Addison raised questions around the Belthorn/Guide area, 
comments received from Hyndburn residents about a leaflet received from 
Blackburn with Darwen regarding junction 5 sites and greenbelt land.  
 
Simon Prideaux responded to say Blackburn with Darwen have done their own 
assessment for their needs and some of the sites earmarked are shared with 
Hyndburn, they are also short of quality employment land. Hyndburn’s  concerns 
have been raised with Blackburn with Darwen. 
  
Housing numbers have been the same for the last 20 years in Hyndburn, Hyndburn 
are optimistic to meet the number in Huncoat and the protection of good 
employment sites. This includes promoting community infrastructure.  
 
Protecting and enhancing the Environment  
 
The group discussed open space/housing development at the land on Charter 
Street which recently came to Planning Committee, the cost of the loss of trees was 
£20K so under the S106 they had to pay that amount to the Council which then can 
be invested back into the community or local nature reserves.  
 
Christine Whittle confirmed it’s hard to find willing land owners.  
 

Page 55



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Councillor Judith Addison discussed Hopwood Street, many residents have been 
furious as the developer hadn’t re applied for planning permission and they have 
taken down a lot of trees without permission. The conditions were established 
originally but never implemented or renewed. Simon Prideaux confirmed this is 
being looked at.  
 
Accessibility and Transport 
 
There is an old rail freight terminal at Huncoat which could be used as an extension 
to the Colne and Skipton line for freight and passenger. We are awaiting 
government announcements on this.  
 
Greenbelt and Countryside  
 
There are some agricultural site developments and potential changes at Altham 
business park. There are boundry changes around Huncoat at the land near power 
station. We will look to safeguard some land in Huncoat where RSPCA are situated 
near whinney hill site, although not suitable for residential. 
 
There are urban boundary changes in Rishton, a couple of sites are likely to be 
supported in the Dunkenhalgh area, further discussions are taking place re this.  
 
Site allocations  
 
There are some good sites i.e. Ribblesdale Avenue. Alot of public interest in Delph 
mount also after notice in the paper, this will come to Planning Committee in due 
course.   
 
Cllr Carole Haythorntwaite raised a question around the Mill Site at Rishton near the 
canal and Cut Lane. Resident issues, parking issues on the main road due to the 
ballards in place so not accessible for parking.  Simon Prideaux responded that they 
are currently looking if there is a need for a car park and residents have been 
consulted on 2 possible sites for housing in the future. 
 
Councillor Judith Addison raised the demand for houses for the elderly and people 
with disabilities and what percentage is in the plan is for those types of houses. 
Simon Prideaux agreed that we need to make sure this is considered in the local 
plan and it’s an important point. 
 
 
Resolved – Site allocations to be reported at the next meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 56



 
 
 

 

 
5 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 

 
1 

 
COMMUNITIES AND WELLBEING OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 
 

 
Thursday, 8th July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Jenny Molineux (in the Chair),  

Councillors June Harrison, Kate Walsh, Dominik Allen, 
Carole Haythornthwaite and Dave Parkins 
 

In Attendance: Marie Demaine, Senior Public Health Practitioner 
Kirsten Burnett, Head of Policy and Human Resources 

  

Apologies: Councillor Bernadette Parkinson 
 

 
55 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Bernadette Parkinson. 
 
Councillor Dave Parkins acted as substitute representative for Councillor Bernadette 
Parkinson. 
 

56 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations declared at the Committee. 
 

57 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting of the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday, 8th July 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
  
Recommended        -  That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

58 Confirmation of Work Programme 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report requesting that the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee gave consideration to and commented on the 
draft work programme for 2021/22.  He informed the Committee that it was their role to 
approve the work programme but also pointed out that there were gaps in the work 
programme to accommodate additional items being added and brought forward for scrutiny 
during the year.  He pointed out that items for consideration should be forwarded to himself 
to be considered in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. 
 
Councillor Walsh requested that consideration was given to adding the item ‘Air Pollution’ to 
the Work Programme and referred to the effects of air pollution on residents and the 
importance of scrutinising air pollution and providing more support in tackling it.  The 
Overview and Scrutiny Officer suggested that this item was added to the Work Programme 
later in the year, possibly December/March time.     
 

Page 59



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Resolved - That the work programme for the Communities and 
Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2021/22 
be agreed. 

 
 

59 Nomination of Co-optees 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report to inform Members of the nominated 
Co-optees for the 2021-22 Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
He explained that up to four member of the public could be appointed to the Committee and 
that it was the intention of such Co-optees to be non-political.   
 
The Chair informed the Committee that they had received three nominations for the role of 
Co-optee; Bernard Dawson, Jean Battle and Paul Barton (all former Councillors with 
relevant experience of Scrutiny Committees).  He requested that the Committee gave 
consideration to the three proposed nominations.   
 
Councillor Walsh requested that the Committee gave consideration to Kimberley Whitehead 
as a nomination as Co-optee to the Committee.  She explained that Kimberely was on the 
Board of CBS and part the Hyndburn Hub and would bring considerable experience and 
value to the Committee.  The Committee considered the additional nomination to the 
Committee. 
 
Resolved - That the Communities and Wellbeing Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee approved the following proposed 
nominations as Co-optees of the Committee for 2021/22: 
Bernard Dawson, Jean Battle, Paul Barton and 
Kimberley Whitehead, for proposal of formal approval at 
Full Council. 

 
 

60 Cabinet Response to Report of Overview & Scrutiny Panel - Report on AEDs 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report to inform the Committee of the 
findings of the Automated External Defibrillator (AED) Scrutiny Panel established by the 
Communities and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 25th November 2020 and 
the responses of Cabinet to the recommendations of the Panel.  He reported that: 
- Cabinet had been requested to delegate responsibility to the Chief Executive to make 
suitable arrangements for the ongoing management of Council AEDs having regard to the 
recommendations in the attached Scrutiny report; and 
- agreed to allocate a budget of £12,000 annually for the management of AEDs and that 
there would be a growth bid for budget provision for subsequent years.   
 
The Chair requested a note of thanks to former Cllr Glen Harrison for his contribution to the 
Panel that had been established to look at the management of AEDs in the borough. 
 
Councillor Parkins thanked the Overview and Scrutiny Officer for his help in getting 
defibrillators located in Huncoat. 
 
Resolved - That the Committee noted the recommendations of the 

Scrutiny Panel and the responses of Cabinet. 
 
 
 

61 Suicide Prevention 

Page 60



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 
Marie Demaine, Senior PH Practitioner attended the Communities and Wellbeing Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and gave a presentation on suicide prevention and awareness.   
 
Marie Demaine provided the following facts on suicide: 

- There was a greater number of men than women committing suicide although there 
was an increase in the number of women.   

- It was not always clear why a person had committed suicide. 
- Data on the number of suicide cases was unpredictable. 
- There was investment to look at how to address suicide prevention with real time 

surveillance. 
- Focus was on partnership working. 
- High risk locations for suicide had been identified and preventative measures put in 

place and cluster identification. 
- Top five areas for suicide had been identified with Hyndburn included in the top 5. 
- Drug related deaths and substance misuse were being reviewed.  There was a high 

level of suicide. 
- There was a focus on intervention and prevention of suicide. 
- The Orange Button scheme to encourage conversation and language. 
 
She reported that training was available for elected Members’ participation and that 
there would be a white ribbon campaign to create awareness and encourage 
conversations.  It was their aim to improve mental health and this included looking at 
how the media reported on incidents of suicide and ways to prevent the sensationalising 
of deaths.   
 
Members submitted the following comments and questions: 
 
- Members could participate by placing posters on local notice boards. 
- Were the booklets mentioned in the presentation available both in leaflet form and 

online? 
- Was there any national scientific study taking place to identify key issues of suicide? 
- Had the average age of suicide deaths had gone down? 
- Could the employee assistance scheme open up to Members? 

 
Marie Demaine explained that nationally the focus was on the suicidal deaths of middle 
aged men but they also had heat maps to show areas of concern as well as a number of 
key known contributory factors to suicide, which she outlined, but acknowledged that more 
work was needed to provide more information in preventing deaths.     
 
The Head of Policy and Human Resources, Kirsten Burnett, reported that they had done a 
lot of work on mental health within the Council and referred to the how they had provided 
training sessions and courses on stress/anxiety/depression and suicide prevention.  She 
informed the Committee that there was a confidential helpline for staff to use if necessary 
as well as free Counselling sessions.  Families would also be able to access this 
assistance. Other aides included Friendly Faces in the Council, sign posting people to help 
and an emotional wellbeing handbook to staff.  Wellbeing activities were offered to staff and 
Mental Health Wellbeing week offered support.  She provided details of a number of 
additional ways of Hyndburn Council supported its staff.  She encouraged new ideas. 
A number of questions were submitted to the Senior Public Health Practitioner in advance 
of the Committee and responses were provided at the meeting: 

- The level of support provided to people with addiction issues would depend on the 
level of risk and the type of support required. 

- NHS and local authority provision differed for people waiting for counselling. Marie 
Demaine indicated that she would forward further information onto the Committee 

Page 61



 
 
 

 

 
4 

about this matter and the number of people waiting for counselling and being 
prescribed drugs on GP waiting lists. 

- Pilot schemes were taking place with Mental Health Teams to support local 
authorities in providing mental health provision to children through schools. 

- It was the intention of the NHS to put provision in place for access to mental health 
services for pregnant women, before, during and after pregnancy.  

- Information had been sent to the Chief Executive with regards to questions that had 
been submitted. 

- She reported that the Acute Therapy Service (ATS) had been very successful but 
would report back with greater details to the Committee.  

- Kirsten Burnett had already provided details of how staff of Hyndburn Council 
were supported by the Council in relation to their mental health.   

- The question relating to the increase in demand for mental health services post 
Covid and its funding was forwarded to the Chief Executive - Hyndburn Leisure, 
for response as was the question relating to the role for Leisure Services in 
Suicide Prevention. 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer proposed that a Scrutiny Panel was 
established to discuss how the Council could develop and improve its mental 
health awareness, provision and partnerships.  He suggested that this consisted 
of Councillors (Cllrs June Harrison, Kate Walsh, Jenny Molineux, Dominik Allen 
and Dave Parkins). 

Resolved (1) That the presentation be noted; and 

 (2) That a Scrutiny Panel be established to consider the 
Council’s role in suicide prevention and mental health. 

 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 62



 

 
1 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 

 
Monday, 19th July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Chris Knight (in the Chair), Councillors Kate Walsh, 

Michael Miller, Tim O'Kane and Dominik Allen 
 

Apologies Councillor Caroline Montague 

  

 
72 Apologies for Absence, Declarations of Interest, Dispensations and Substitutions 

 

Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor Caroline Montague. 
 
There were no Declarations of Interest, Dispensations or Substitutions.  
 

73 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last meeting of the Audit Committee held on the 8th March 2021 
were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

74 Risk Management Monitoring Report 
 

Stuart Sambrook, Policy Manager introduced the report to inform Audit Committee 
of the outcome of the review of the Strategic, Generic and Operational Risk 
Registers.  
 
There has been one major change to the Strategic Risk Register as below: 
 

Area Change Risk Rating 
With 
Controls 

NEW RISK 

Customers 
/ Citizens 

 

(Page 4) 

Risk 
Failure to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism as laid out in the Statutory Prevent Duty.  
Risk Owner 
Chief Executive 

Medium 

 
Training to be offered to Staff and Councillors, this is encouraged from the Prevent 
Team at Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council.  
 
There has been no changes to the Generic Risk Register.  
 
There has been one major change to the Operational Risk Register as below: 
 

Page 63



 
 
 

 

 
2 

Area Change Risk Rating 
With Controls 

CHANGE OF RISK RATING  

Legal 

 

(Page 5) 

Risk 
Failure to complete food programme in 2021/22 due to Covid-19 
Risk Owner 
Executive Director (Environment) 
 

Original Rating 
Medium 

 
Revised Rating 

Low 

 
The Authority have been given 3 years to get this programme back on track and the 
team are very keen to achieve this after been deployed to Covid resources for the 
past 12 months.  
 
Chair commented that he understood Covid had hit teams/resources however there 
is still a risk within food outlets and checks are very necessary.  
 
There has been nine minor changes to the Operational Risk Register which details 
are in Appendix 2 of the report but summarised below: 

 Failure to initiate prompt recovery action 

 Errors in Cashiering i.e posting monies to the wrong account  

 Risk of injury to the public due to the headstones and other memorials in the 
Borough’s cemeteries being in an unsafe condition 

 Pollution of canal or local environement resulting in suspension of waste 
transfer at CVMU/Willows Lane  

 Failure to complete food programme in 2021/22 due to Covid 19 

 Failure to initiate recovery action 

 Failure to meet necessary legal requirements leading to claims being made 
 
 
The Policy manager will be reporting on future ways of working and climate 
change on the next report. 

 
Resolved –   (1) That the report be noted by the Audit Committee. 

(2) The Policy manager to update back to Committee on the Food 
Programme risk register.  

 
75 Annual Internal Audit Report & Opinion 

 

Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations presented the report to inform and 
update Audit Committee on the Annual Internal Audit Report and Audit Opinion for 
2020/21 and to give details on the performance of the Internal Audit Team and final 
outturn position for 2020/21.  
 
The key issues arising from the report were: 
 

 The Head of Audit & Investigations is able to issue a positive opinion on the 
systems of Internal Control based on the work carried out in 2020/21 as 
detailed below. The opinion score noticeably improved from 1.85 in 2019/20 
to 1.36 in 2020/21. The number of recommendations fell sharply from 56 in 
2019/20 to 8 in 2020/21. 

Page 64



 
 
 

 

 
3 

 

 Internal Audit did not identify any issues in 2020/21 during the course of their 
audit work that would have a material effect on the Council’s Financial 
Statements. 
 

 Internal Audit achieved audit plan coverage of 96.32% in 2020/21. This was 
1.68% below the annual target of 98%. A contributory factor in this was time 
lost through both special and compassionate leave being taken within the 
year. 
 

 Production and publication of this report is a requirement of the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. This report satisfies the requirements for those 
charged with governance and forms a supplementary piece of evidence to 
the Annual Governance Statement. 
 

 
The Audit opinion for 2020/21 is Substantial assurance, which also detailed the 
unexpected risks created by Covid 19 such as Business support grants, 
homeworking and system controls.  
 
The Council buildings are still closed to the public for the unforeseeable. 
 
Cllr Kate Walsh discussed the public not being able to access the Council services 
in person it then increases the risk of the phone lines being busier and complaints 
are received that they cant get through or on hold for a long time. 
 
The Head of Audit & Investigations responded that there had been issues with the 
new telephony system that was implemented in November 2020. It has affected the 
switchboard and created long waiting times, its still being worked on whilst a 
temporary fix has been put in place.  
 
Resolved – That the report be noted by the Audit Committee. 
 
 
 

76 Audit Plan Progress Report 
 

Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations presented the report to inform Audit 
Committee of the Audit reports issued during the period February 2021 – June 2021 
and the key issues.  
 
There was a target of 98% of the audit plan to be completed by the end of 2020/21 
financial year in terms of audit days completed. The position at the end of March 
2021 was 96.32%.  
 
A summary of the main issues arising from audits carried out detailed in appendix 1 
were as follows: 
 
Facilities – Substantial assurance  
Housing Benefits & Council Tax Support – Comprehensive assurance  

Page 65



 
 
 

 

 
4 

Energy Conservation & Climate Change – Comprehensive assurance  
ICT Assets – Substantial assurance  
Central Vehicle Maintenance Unit – Comprehensive assurance  
Fleet Management – Substantial assurance  
 
The group had a discussion on the What Three Words app which can be used for 
staff who work in remote or rural locations to give an added increase level of 
protection following the audit on Fleet Management. This is being discussed but not 
yet implemented.  
 
 

Resolved – That the report be noted by the Audit Committee.  
 

77 Follow-Ups Update 
 

Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigation presented the report to inform Audit 
Committee of the outcome of routine follow ups following previously agreed action 
plans for completed Audit reports. The follows up detailed are those carried out 
during the period February 2021 – June 2021.  
 
The Committee went through the follows ups carried out detailed in Appendix 1.  
 

 Bank Reconciliation – there was an error on the year so should read ‘the 
procedure notes for the Payments and Receipts bank reconciliation have 
been updated and will be refreshed during the Summer of 2020 to reflect the 
Civica Bank Reconciliation module introduction.  

 Central Vehicle Maintenance Unit  

 Email & Leavers Processes  
 
Resolved – That the report be noted by the Audit Committee.  
 

78 Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme 
 

Mark Beard, Head of Audit & Investigations presented the report to inform Members 
of the Audit Committee the current position on the Quality Assurance and 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) which sets out how we manage any Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) that are not compliant, ensuring conformance with 
the PSIAs overall.  
 
The standards are subject to a self - assessment which is carried out annually by 
the Head of Audit & Investigations and there is also an external assessment carried 
out as a minimum once every 5 years.  
 
The Committee discussed the findings in Appendix 1.  
 
The next external review will be held in 2022, Chair requested participation to be 
widened to Committee Members not just himself.  
 
 
Resolved – That the report be noted by the Audit Committee.  
 

Page 66



 
 
 

 

 
5 

 
79 Statement of Accounts 2019/2020 

 

David Donlan, Head of Accountancy presented the report to inform the Committee 
on the production of the Annual Accounts and their External Audit and deal with 
issues arising from this work.  
 
The draft accounts were completed and published online in November 2020. Grant 
Thornton (External Auditors) have now undertaken their on-site audit of the 
accounts and work is close to completion.  
 
The highlights are covered in the narrative at the front of item 10 within the papers. 
It was reported that the Council’s overall position is relatively healthy and in a good 
position.  
 
Once confirmation has been received from Grant Thornton that the audit is 
complete, a ‘Notice of Conclusion of Audit’ will be published.  
 
Resolved – That the Committee approved and signed the Council’s Statement 
of Accounts for 2019/20. 
 

80 Letter of Representation (Item 8) 
 

David Donlan, Head of Accountancy presented the letter of representation for the 
Committee to consider and approve.  
 
The letter is to Grant Thornton (External Auditors) in connection with the audit of the 
financial statements of Hyndburn Borough Council for the year ended 31 March 
2020 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial 
statements are presented fairly.  
 
There was an audit adjustment attached to the letter which had not been included 
within the final set of financial statements, it referred to Non-ringfenced grant 
income is overstated in the CIES and disclosure notes, due to a compilation error.  
 
Resolved – That the Committee approved and signed the letter of 
representation.  
 

81 The Audit Findings for Hyndburn Borough Council - Year ended 31st March 2020 
(Item 8) 
 
Andrew Smith, Grant Thornton discussed the Audit Findings report to the Committee.  
 
Andrew summarised the key headlines and the significant findings of the report. There is 
one recommendation for the Council identified in the action plan classed as a medium risk 
and several audit adjustments covered in appendix C.  
 
Overall, External Audit are happy with the findings in the report.  
 
Resolved – That the report be noted by the Audit Committee.  
 

 

Page 67



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 68



 
1 

 
RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Tuesday, 20th July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Paddy Short (in the Chair),  

Councillors Carole Haythornthwaite and Andrew Clegg 
 

In Attendance: Councillor Paul Cox, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Markets and Town 
Centre 

  

Apologies: Councillors Michael Hindley, Patrick McGinley and Tim O'Kane 
 
 

 
82 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Hindley, O’Kane and 
McGinley. 
 
Absent from the Committee were Councillors Mahmood and Aziz. 
 

83 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

84 Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th March 2021 were submitted for approval as a 
correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

85 Confirmation of Work Programme 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report requesting that the Resources 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee gave consideration to and commented on the draft work 
programme for 2021/22.  He informed the Committee that it was their role to approve the 
work programme but also pointed out that there were gaps in the work programme to 
accommodate additional items being added and brought forward for scrutiny during the 
year.  He pointed out that items for consideration should be forwarded to himself to be 
considered in consultation with the Chair of the Committee. 
 
Resolved - That the work programme for the Resources Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee for 2021/22 be agreed. 
 
 

86 Nomination of Co-optees 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report to inform Members of the nominated 
Co-optees for the 2021-22 Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  He explained 

Page 69



 
 
 

 

 
2 

that up to four member of the public could be appointed to the Committee and that it was 
the intention of such Co-optees to be non-political.   
 
The Chair informed the Committee that they had received three nominations for the role of 
Co-optee; Bernard Dawson, Doug Hayes and Stephen Button (all former Councillors with 
relevant experience of Scrutiny Committees).  He requested that the Committee gave 
consideration to the three proposed nominations.   
 
Resolved - That the Resources Committee approved the following 

three proposed nominations as Co-optees of the 
Committee for 2021/22: Bernard Dawson, Doug Hayes 
and Stephen Button, for proposal of formal approval at 
Full Council. 

 
 

87 Consideration of Scrutiny Protocol 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Officer submitted a report for the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to give consideration to the adoption of a protocol for Scrutiny 
Panels/Task and Finish Groups.  He explained that the Council’s constitution allowed the 
Committee to establish Panels to scrutinise specific topics.  The report set out the process 
for the running of these Panels.  He requested that the Committee gave consideration to 
adopting the process.   
 
Resolved - That the Scrutiny Panel protocol be adopted as detailed 

in Section 3 of the report, attached to the agenda. 
 
 
 
 

88 Temporary Rent Concessions for Indoor Market Hall Traders 
 
The Executive Director – Environment and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Town Centres 
and Markets, Councillor Paul Cox, reported on temporary rent concessions for indoor 
market hall traders.   
 
Councillor Cox gave details of continued rent reductions and discussions that had been 
held with market traders.  He outlined the history of rent reductions in the market and 
compared rates across Lancashire.  He referred to the changes that had been applied after 
lockdown and efforts that had been made to mitigate the impact of the pandemic on the 
markets.  He pointed out that proposals for change had come from the market traders 
themselves and explained the difficulties faced by changes in shopping habits to the retail 
industry.  The Committee was informed of the importance of adapting and changing to meet 
these challenges and to entice people back to the markets.  He reported that they 
encouraged traders to promote themselves online as much as they could and this aspect of 
trading was a significant part of new tenancy leases.  He reported that pop up stalls were 
doing really well and were another option to offer people using the market.  Work had also 
been done with the events team and Sunday Markets were successful.  He informed the 
Committee that they had not wanted to make major changes during the present difficult 
times but preferred to let things settle down before planning any further changes.   
 
The Chair referred to reduced capacity due to works taking place and asked if this would 
continue. 
 

Page 70



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Councillor Cox explained that the Market Traders had raised the issue of capacity outside 
the market hall and they had worked with them to improve the situation. 
 
Steve Riley explained that Traders signed up to leases lasting 3 years with a 6 month break 
clause.  The Committee was informed that all leases lasted the same length of time.  
Further information was also provided on the different payment options.   
 
The Chair asked if payment on the same day was being phased out and if there was any 
scope to use ‘Boost’ to promote the Market Hall.   Councillor Cox agreed that payment on 
the same day was being phased out and that they had done a lot a work with the press to 
advertise the market in a positive way.  He indicated that they were aiming to attract 
younger people to the market by providing social space and food places.  The aim was to 
provide experiences and offer something different. 
 
Steve Riley referred to proposal to increase footfall through town centre events but advised 
of the financial risks of putting events on in the town centre which later, may have to be 
cancelled due to the pandemic.     
 
Councillor Cox referred to efforts they had made to look at how other towns were promoting 
and managing their markets for ideas and to use best practice from this.   
 
Resolved - That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 22nd July, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Dave Parkins (Vice 

Chair), Judith Addison, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison, 
Melissa Fisher, Kath Pratt, Susan Hayes, Mohammad Ayub, 
Diane Fielding, Caroline Montague and Dominik Allen 
 

Apologies: Councillor Sajid Mahmood 

  

 
89 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

An apology for absence was submitted for Councillor Sajid Mahmood and 
Councillor Dominik Allen acted as a substitute.  
 
 
 
 

90 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 15th June 2021 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

91 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out recommended 
action on the following application.  
 
Resolved – That the following application be approved, subject to the conditions 
recommended in the report. Delegated powers granted to the Chief Planning Officer 
to finalise wording of conditions prior to the decision notice being issued.  
 
11/21/0041 – 36 Nuttall Street (FORMER BRITANNIA PUBLIC HOUSE) Accrington, BB5 
2HN 
 
N.B  1.  Mr Brian Summer spoke in favour of the application. 
 2. This application was a resubmission from a previous refusal.  
  
 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 

Page 73



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 

Page 74



 
94 

 
PLANNING (TREES) SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

 
Thursday, 22nd July, 2021 

 
Present: Councillor Melissa Fisher (in the Chair),  

Councillors Judith Addison, Eamonn Higgins, Terry Hurn and 
Caroline Montague 
 

  

 
92 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 

There were no apologies for absence, substitutions, declarations of interest or 
dispensations.  
 

93 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last Planning (Trees) Sub-Committee held on the 17th October 
2019, were submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

94 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 - Tree Preservations Order(s) 
 

The Chief Planning & Transportation Officer and the Tree Officer submitted a report 
to determine the application Tree Preservation Order 2021 No 1 – Mount Pleasant 
School, Clayton Le Moors, BB5 5NH. 
 
The recommendation is that the Tree Preservation Order No 1 made earlier this 
year in respect of a Sycamore tree at Mount Pleasant School is to be confirmed.  
 
The Chief Planning & Transportation Officer presented information and photographs 
of the tree and advised Members that an assessment of the tree had been 
undertaken and was included in the report. 
 
Resolved –  
 

(1) That the temporary Tree Preservation Order be made permanent and 
confirmed.  

(2) That the Chief Planning & Transport Officer write to the school to 
request regular maintenance of the tree in line with arboricultural best 
practice.  
  

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Page 75



 
 
 

 

 
95 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 76



 

 
1 

 
LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 25th August, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Melissa Fisher (in the Chair), Councillors Steven Smithson and 

Joyce Plummer 
 

Apologies June Harrison 

  

 
95 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Apologies were submitted on behalf of Councillor June Harrison and Councillor Joyce 
Plummer acted as substitute representative on behalf of Councillor Harrison.   
 

96 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the last meeting held on 13th January 2020 were submitted for approval as a 
correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

97 Licensing Hearing Procedure 
 
The Council’s Conduct of Hearing Procedure to be used in relation to a hearing required 
under the Licensing Act was submitted. 
 
Resolved - That the Procedure be noted. 
 

98 Licensing Act 2003 Determination Hearing - Money Savers, Clayton Le Moors 
 
In accordance with the Hyndburn Borough Council Policy on the Conduct of Hearings and 
the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005, the Licensing Manager (Mrs Redfern) 
advised the Licensing Sub-Committee of the details of an application that had been 
received to review a premise licence pursuant to Section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 (‘the 
Act’).   
 
A copy of the Licensing Authority’s Conduct of Hearings had been circulated prior to the 
meeting with the agenda. 
 
The Licensing Manager advised the Sub-Committee that Lancashire County Council, 
Trading Standards, a responsible authority, had made an application to review the premise 
licence of Money Savers, 115-117 Whalley Road, Clayton le Moors. The premises 
benefited from the licensable activity of supplying alcohol for consumption off the premises - 
Monday to Sunday 0800 – 2300.  It was alleged that alcohol had been sold from the 
premises to children under the age of 18, in addition to other breaches of the licensing 
conditions.  The Committee was also made aware of the continual reluctance of the 
premise owner to comply with the requirements of the Check 25 packs provided by the 
Trading Standards Service.  A representative from Lancashire County Council Trading 
Standards was present at the meeting to comment on the application and to respond to 
questions from the Committee.   

Public Document Pack

Page 77



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
A copy of the current licence was attached as appendix 1 of the agenda and a copy of the 
review application with a statement from the Council’s Licensing Enforcement Officer was 
attached as appendix 2.  The Council’s Licensing Enforcement Officer was present at the 
meeting to comment on his statement. 
 
During the consultation period a representation had been received from Lancashire 
Constabulary and was attached as appendix 3 to the agenda.  A representative of 
Lancashire Constabulary was present at the meeting to comment on their representation. 
 
The premises licence holder of Money Savers and his wife and daughter were present at 
the meeting to submit their comments on the application and to respond to questions of the 
Committee.  Councillor Dad was also present at the meeting to act as interpreter for the 
premises licence holder.  The Designated Premises Supervisor was not in attendance at 
the meeting.   
 
The Sub-Committee considered the application and representations from all parties and 
took into account the statutory guidance pursuant to Section 52(2) and (3) of the Licensing 
Act which states that the Licensing Authority must hold a hearing to consider the application 
and any relevant representations and that it must take such steps mentioned in Section 
52(4) (if any) as it considers necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 
 
The applicant was made aware of his right of appeal to Lancashire Magistrates’ Court. 
 
  Resolved - That, having taken into account Section 52(4) of the 

Licensing Act 2003 and after considering the 
representations made by Lancashire Trading Standards, 
Lancashire Constabulary and the premises licence 
holder, and on balance of probability of the differing 
accounts given, the Licensing Sub-Committee 
determined that the conditions of licence had been 
breached.  This had been due to alcohol having been 
sold under the age of restriction for a considerable 
length of time and that there had been a failure to 
comply with the condition of licence for CCTV images to 
be retained for 14 days.  It was determined that there 
had been a serious failure to meet licensing objectives 
relevant to the prevention of crime and disorder and 
public safety, consequently, the Licensing Sub-
Committee determined that the premise holder’s licence 
for the sale of alcohol be revoked pursuant to any 
appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days.   

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 78



 

 
1 

 
LOCAL PLAN MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 

 
Monday, 6th September, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair), Councillors Judith Addison, 

Carole Haythornthwaite, Eamonn Higgins and Dave Parkins 
 

Apologies Melissa Fisher and Simon Prideaux 

  

 
99 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 

Apologies received from Councillor Melissa Fisher, Councillor Dave Parkins 
substituted in her absence. 
 
Apologies received from Simon Prideaux.  
 
 

100 Declarations of Interest 
 

There were no declarations of interest.  
 

101 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 

The minutes of the last meeting of the Local Plan Member Working Group held on 
the 23rd June 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved – That the minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

102 Local Plan Timetable Update 
 

Christine Whittle, Principal Planning Officer updated the group on progress of the 
timetable.  
 
The next phase of the consultation will be early next year, likely to be 
January/February 2022. Following this, the final plan will be submitted to the 
Planning Inspectorate  for  an Examination. The group had a discussion on how the 
Examination would take place and the formalities of it.  
 
Public consultation should then take place September/October 2022 hopefully. 
 
All Local Plans to be officially implemented by 2023. 
 
CW to finalise the timetable of dates.  
 

103 Local Plan Progress including Evidence Base Update 
 

Christine Whittle discussed the progress and what will happen next in terms of the 
evidence collation.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 79



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 Highways capacity study – Huncoat is the biggest area of change. 

 Economic needs update including housing requirements – 194 per year up to 
2037.  

 An open space audit is currently being conducted; the last one took place in 
2006. Important study for the team to have the information available and 
ensure we meet Fields in Trust standards.  

 Landscape assessment site survey taking place by Penny Bennett. 

 Viability assessment for the Local Plan covering Brownfield and Greenfield 
sites. 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment and Sustainability Assessment – both 
required legally.  
 

 
104 Huncoat Garden Village Update 

 

Chair updated the group on her recent meeting with Mark Hoyle, Head of 
Regeneration & Housing regarding the Garden Village.  
 
Chair announced she will need to meet with both Huncoat Councillors, Dave 
Parkins and Eamonn Higgins before the final report is included on the Cabinet 
agenda in October. 
 
It was confirmed that Huncoat will be mainly focused on Housing and the 
Employment land will be based in Altham. 
 
The group had a discussion on School placements and Doctors surgery capacity for 
Huncoat and it has been confirmed there is enough in the 10-15 year plan.  
 
Further details to follow after the Cabinet Committee in October.  
 

105 Gypsy and Traveller Site Provision Update 
 

Christine Whittle informed the group that an update will be reported to the Cabinet 
meeting in September to suggest 4 sites for the provision.  
 
The group had a discussion on Coal Pit Road site, capacity on existing sites and 
existing families expanding.  
 

106 Local Plan Site Allocations - Preferred Housing and Employment Site Allocations 
 

Christine Whittle issued out the maps of the wards for the group to look at 
confidentially prior to the Local Plan Member Briefing Session on the 6th October.  
 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Page 80



 
 
 

 

 
3 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



 

REPORT TO: Council 

DATE: 23 September 2021 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Head of Member Services 

TITLE OF REPORT: Motions for Debate at Council -  

1. Universal Credit Uplift 

 

EXEMPT REPORT:  No  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
The Council will be asked to consider the following motions submitted under Council 
Procedure Rule A9, as amended by Section 10 of the Remote Meetings Procedure Rules:- 
 
1. Universal Credit Uplift 
 
That this Council calls upon the Conservative Government to scrap their proposed plan to 
remove the £20 a week uplift to Universal Credit introduced because of the coronavirus 
pandemic which will affect the 10,882 people in Hyndburn currently on Universal Credit. 
 
Proposer: Cllr Tim O’Kane 
Seconder: Cllr June Harrison 
 

Submitted on 14th September 2021 (10.23am) 
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Confirmation of Minutes
	7. Amendments to the Constitution - Part 4C Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	8. Appointment of Co-optees
	9. Minutes of Cabinet
	10. Minutes of Committees
	Minutes of Local Plan Working Group - 23 June 2021
	Minutes

	Minutes of Communities and Wellbeing OSC - 8 July 2021
	Minutes of Audit Committee - 19 July 2021
	Minutes of Resources OSC - 20 July 2021
	Minutes of Planning Committee - 22 July 2021
	Minutes of Planning (Trees) Sub Committee - 22 July 2021
	Minutes of Licensing Sub Committee - 25 August 2021
	Minutes

	Minutes of Local Plan Working Group - 6 September 2021
	Minutes


	11. Motion(s) submitted on Notice

